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Corporate Structure

* 	 Incorporated in India
** 	 Incorporated in Mauritius
*** 	 Incorporated in South Africa
**** 	 Incorporated in Indonesia

100%
Mekarani Heights Sdn Bhd

100%
Intermax Resources Sdn Bhd

# 	 Incorporated in Madagascar
##  	 Incorporated in the People’s Republic 
	 of China
### 	 Incorporated in Thailand

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad

70%
Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd

90%
Tru-Mix Concrete Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd

100%
Timeless Element Sdn Bhd

100%
H2Energy Corporation Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Geotechnics Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Jaya Sdn Bhd

 	
Ho Hup Construction Company 
Berhad (Madagascar Branch)

100%	
Ho Hup Construction Company 
(India) Private Limited *

100%
Ho Hup Corporation 
(Mauritius) Ltd **

100%
Ho Hup Corporation 
(South Africa) Pty Ltd *** 

80%
PT Halford Citra ****

50%
Hupcon Antarabangsa 
Sdn Bhd

49%
Semenyih Brickmakers Sdn Bhd

49.9%
Ho Hup Construction 
(Madagascar) SARL # 

49.8%
Madagascar Malaysia Equipment 
Rental #

49.8%
Madagascar Malaysia Construction 
Company #

45%
Shanghai San Ho Hup 
Pile Co. Ltd ##

48%
Ho Hup Corporation (Thailand) 
Limited ###
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Board of Directors’ Profile

	 YBHG TAN SRI DATO’ KAMARUZZAMAN BIN SHARIFF 
	 Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman Bin Shariff, a Malaysian, aged 68, was appointed to  the Board of the Company as an 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman on 17 March 2010. He is currently the Chairman of the Executive Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Nomination Committee.

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman graduated from University of Malaya in 1964 of Arts Degree and obtained a Diploma of 
Public Administration from Carleton University, Canada in 1969. He also holds Masters in Public Administration from Syracuse 
University, USA in 1979.

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman served the Malaysian Civil Service for 38 years where he held various senior positions in 
Federal and State Government, including Mayor of Kuala Lumpur from 1995 to 2001. His other postings include Secretary 
General of the Ministry of Defence from 1992 to 1995, Deputy Director General of Public Services Department in 1992, Penang 
State Secretary from 1988 to 1992, Secretary in the Cabinet Division of the Prime Minister’s Department from 1983 to 1987, 
Director of External Assistance and General Affairs in the Economic Planning Unit of the Prime Minister’s Department from 
1980 to 1983 and senior positions in the Public Services Department from 1972 to 1980 and the Ministry of Education from 
1964 to 1972. He has vast administrative, strategic planning and management experience by virtue of his long service in the 
Administrative and Diplomatic in  Malaysia.

Currently, YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman also sits on the Board of Bintai Kinden Corporation Berhad, Metronic Global Berhad, 
Emas Kiara Industrial Berhad and Kontena Nasional Berhad. 

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, and 
has no conflict of interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offences for the past 10 years. 

	 DATO’ RAMLI BIN YUSUFF 
	 Deputy Chairman/Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

Dato’ Ramli bin Yusuff, a Malaysian, aged 58, was appointed to the Board of the Company as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 28 April 2010. He was subsequently appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Board on 26 May 2010. He is currently 
a member of the Executive Committee.

Dato’ Ramli graduated with a LLB (Bachelor of Law) with Honours from University Islam Antarabangsa (“UIA”) in 1987 and 
he was registered as a Peguambela and Peguamcara since 1990. He also holds a LLM (Master of Law) in Commercial and 
Corporate from University College London (“UCL”) in London.

Dato’ Ramli served 39 years in the Police Force and his last post held was Director Commercial Crime Investigation 
Department.

Dato’ Ramli does not hold any directorship in other public companies.

Dato’ Ramli has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, and has no conflict of interest 
with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offences for the past 10 years. 
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	 encik LOW TEIK KIEN 
	 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

En. Low Teik Kien, a Malaysian, aged 46, was appointed to the Board of the Company on 1 June 1995 as an Executive Director 
and subsequently re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 21 October 2009. He is currently a member 
of the Remuneration Committee. He has over 22 years of experience in the construction and building industry. 

En. Low does not hold any other directorship in other public companies.

En. Low holds directly 698,700 and indirectly 25,162,629 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company.

En. Low does not have any family relationship with the Directors. He is the brother of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy, a major shareholder 
of the Company. He has no conflict of interest with the Company other than disclosed under Note 37 to the Financial Statements 
on page 110 of the Annual Report. He has not been convicted of any offences for the past 10 years.

	 encik CHOW SECK KAI
	 Independent Non-Executive Director 

En. Chow Seck Kai, a Malaysian, aged 54, was appointed to the Board of the Company as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 17 March 2010. He is currently a member of the Audit Committee and Executive Committee.

En. Chow is an Associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (UK). He is also a professional member 
of the National Institute of Accountants (“NIA”), Australia. En. Chow is the principal of SKC Secretarial Consultants. He has 
been practising as a chartered secretary for the past 20 years.

En. Chow is the current President of the Institute of Commercial and Industrial Accountants, Malaysia and also the Honorary 
Secretary of the Alumni Association of NIA Australia, Malaysia Branch.

En. Chow does not hold any other directorship in other public companies.

En. Chow holds 1,284,600 ordinary shares of RM 1.00 each in the Company but he has no family relationship with any director 
and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no conflict of interest with the Company and has not been convicted of any 
offences for the past 10 years.

	 Tuan Haji Slamat bin Hamzah
	 Independent Non-Executive Director 

Tuan Haji Slamat bin Hamzah, a Malaysian, aged 57, was appointed to the Board of the Company as an Independent Non- 
Executive Director on 17 March 2010. He is currently a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Tuan Haji Slamat holds a Bachelor degree in Economics from University Kebangsaan Malaysia and graduated in 1979.

Tuan Haji Slamat started his Civil Service career with Majlis Daerah Sepang in 1979 as Secretary. From 1985 to 2002, he was 
given the opportunity to be involved in the development of several areas in Selangor with his appointment as Secretary for 
numerous Majlis Daerah namely, Majlis Daerah Hulu Langat (Majlis Perbandaran Kajang) (1985-1988), Majlis Daerah Sabak Bernam 
(1988-1992), Majlis Daerah Gombak (1992-1997), Majlis Perbandaran Selayang (1997-1999) and Majlis Daerah Kuala Selangor 
(1999-2002). He was the Municipal Secretary for Majlis Perbandaran Subang Jaya, managing an area of 161.8 per square km, 
serving a population of 531,400 residents as well as managing staff force of 1,165 staff and he retired in June 2008.

Tuan Haji Slamat does not hold any other directorship in other public companies.

Tuan Haji Slamat has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, and has no conflict of 
interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offences for the past 10 years.

	

Board of Directors’ Profile (cont’d)
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	 ENCIK D. FELIX DORAIRAJ
	 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

En. D. Felix Dorairaj, a Malaysian, aged 60, was appointed to the Board of the Company as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 17 March 2010. He is currently a member of the Nomination Commitee.

En. Dorairaj graduated from the University of Malaya with a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree in 1975. In 1979, En. Dorairaj read 
law at the University College, Cardiff, graduating in 1982 with LLB (Hons). En. Dorairaj was called to the English Bar at Lincoln’s 
Inn in 1983 and was called to the Malaysian Bar in 1984.

En. Dorairaj was employed in the Klang Port Authority (Lembaga Pelabuhan Klang) as a Traffic Officer (Operations) as well as 
in the cargo claims division between 1973 and 1979. He has been in active practice as Counsel in Court and at Arbitrations 
specialising in the area of building construction and engineering law and maritime law. He has been involved in building and 
engineering law disputes both within jurisdiction and overseas.

En. Dorairaj does not hold any directorship in other public companies.

En. Dorairaj has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, and has no conflict of interest 
with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offences for the past 10 years. 

	 ENCIK YUSOB BIN MD. TASIR
	 Independent Non-Executive Director 

En. Yusob Bin Md. Tasir, a Malaysian, aged 58, was appointed to the Board of the Company as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 17 March 2010. He is currently a member of the Nomination Commitee.

En. Yusob graduated from University Islam Antarabangsa, Malaysia in 1989 with a Degree in Law (Honours).

Prior to joining Ho Hup,  En. Yusob was attached with Lembaga Pelabuhan Klang for approximately 18 years. Subsequent 
to obtaining his degree, he served as Magistrate in several Mahkamah Majistret including Kota Bharu, Machang and Kuala 
Terengganu from 1989 to 1999. He then rose through the rank of Timbalan Pendakwa Raya in Pulau Pinang and Pengarah Biro 
Bantuan Guaman in Pahang from 1999 to 2006. He then served as a Timbalan Pendakwa Raya in the General and Sexual Criminal 
Department under the Jabatan Peguam Negara from 2006 to 2008. He was registered as a Peguambela and Peguamcara with 
the High Court of Malaya in 2008 and was attached to Messrs. Salehuddin Saidin & Associates in 2009.

En. Yusob does not hold any directorship in other public companies.

En. Yusob has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, and has no conflict of interest 
with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offences for the past 10 years. 

 

Board of Directors’ Profile (cont’d)
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Corporate Governance Statement

Whilst the Board recognises the importance of practising good Corporate Governance to protect and enhance shareholder value, 
there have been challenges in implementing the recommendations of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“the 
Code”), particularly resulting from the changes in the composition of the Board since 2008 and the numerous problems faced 
by the Group after being placed under Practice Note 1 (“PN1”) and Practice Note 17 (“PN17”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing Requirements (“LR”). However, the current Board will endeavour to ensure 
that the highest standards of corporate governance are practised thoughout the Group as a fundamental part of discharging 
their responsibility. 

Set out below is a description of how the Group has otherwise applied the principles and the extent of compliance with best 
practices, as set out in the Code, throughout the 12 months ended 31 December 2009 and up to the date of this report. 

A)	 DIRECTORS

1)	 Composition of the Board

	 At the date of this report, the Board consists of 7 members; with 4 Independent & Non Executive Directors and 3 
Non Independent & Non Executive Directors. The Board complied with Paragraph 15.02 of Bursa Securities LR which 
requires at least two or one-third, whichever is higher, to be Independent Directors. 

	T he Group is led by a Board who has a wide range of business, financial and legal with specialisation in building 
construction and engineering experiences that are relevant to drive the Group in achieving its objective. Together 
they supervise and manage the Group’s businesses which are vital to the success of the Group especially on exiting 
the PN17 status and enhancement of long term shareholders’ value. A brief description of the background of each 
Director is presented on pages 4 to 6.

	T he Board members had met 13 times during the year ended 31 December 2009 to deliberate and resolve significant 
issues in relation to strategic, operational, financial, corporate and regulatory matters that have been affecting the 
Group. Details of the attendance of the Directors are as follows:

	 Directors	 Attendance	  	
YBhg. Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir (Chairman)

	 (Retired on 25 June 2009)	 3/5	  	
En. Lim Ching Choy (Group Managing Director)

	 (Appointed on 1 June 2009 and was removed from the Board on 17 March 2010)	 9/9	  	
En. Low Kim Leng

	 (Resigned on 8 July 2009)	 3/6	  	
Encik Faris Najhan Bin Hashim

	 (Resigned on 29 July 2009)	 2/6	  	
En. Foo Ton Hin

	 (Appointed on 31 July 2009 and was removed from the Board on 17 March 2010)	 6/6	  	
En. Mohd Shahril Bin Tan Sri Hamzah

	 (Appointed on 31 July 2009 and was removed from the Board on 17 March 2010)	 4/6	  	
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A)	 DIRECTORS (cont’d)

1)	 Composition of the Board (cont’d)

	 Directors	 Attendance	  	

	 YBhg. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong
	 (Resigned on 23 February 2010)	 13/13	  	

YBhg. Datuk Lye Ek Seang (Deputy Executive Chairman)
	 (Removed from the Board on 17 March 2010)	 11/13	  	

En. Low Teik Kien	 11/13	  	
En. Lai Moo Chan

	 (Removed from the Board on 17 March 2010)	 9/13	  	
En. Long Md. Nor Amran Bin Long Ibrahim

	 (Removed from the Board on 17 March 2010)	 10/13	  	
YBhg. Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman Bin Shariff (Present Chairman)

	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)	N /A	  	
YBhg. Dato’ Ramli Bin Yusuff (Present Deputy Chairman)

	 (Appointed on 28 April 2010)	N /A	  	
En. Hew Thin Chay

	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010 and resigned on 22 April 2010)	N /A	  	
En. Yusob Bin Md. Tasir

	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)	N /A	  	
En. D. Felix Dorairaj

	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)	N /A	  	
Tuan Haji Slamat Bin Hamzah

	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)	N /A	  	
En. Chow Seck Kai

	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)	N /A 	

	 An Executive Committee (“EXCO”) was formed on 13 August 2008 to manage the day-to-day operations. With the 
appointment of a Group Managing Director (“GMD”) on 1 June 2009, the EXCO relinquished its responsibilities to 
the GMD.

	 However, with the change in Board of Directors on 17 March 2010, the roles and responsibilities of the EXCO were 
reactivated and resumed. 

	 The Terms of Reference of the EXCO are as follows:-

1.0	O bjective

	 The principal objective of the EXCO is to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities in respect 
of various matters or aspects that the Board of Directors mandates. 

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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A)	 DIRECTORS (cont’d)

1)	 Composition of the Board (cont’d) 

2.0	C omposition

	 The EXCO shall be appointed by the Board of Directors, comprising not fewer than three members. Composition 
of the EXCO and designation of the members since 17 March 2010 are as follows:-

	 YBhg. Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman Bin Shariff - Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010)	  

	 En. Hew Thin Chay - Member (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010 and ceased on 22 April 2010)	

	 En. Chow Seck Kai - Member (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010)	

	 YBhg. Dato’ Ramli Bin Yusuff - Member (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) 
	 (Appointed on 3 May 2010)

3.0	 Meeting of EXCO

	 The EXCO may meet together to despatch business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as they 
think fit. Any EXCO member may at any time and the Secretary shall on the requisition of an EXCO member 
summon a meeting of the EXCO except in the case of an emergency, reasonable notice of every EXCO meeting 
shall be given in writing. The meeting quorum shall be by majority of members present. 

4.0	A ttendance at Meeting

	 The Company Secretary or a designated employee (“Secretary”) shall be the Secretary of the EXCO and shall 
be responsible for drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the chairman and circulating it.

	 The Secretary shall also be responsible for keeping the minutes of meetings of the EXCO, circulating them to 
EXCO members and to the Board of Directors.

5.0	 Frequency of Meeting

	 The frequency of meeting will be decided by the EXCO.

6.0	A uthority

	 The EXCO is authorised by the Board of Directors to conduct any enquiries within its terms of reference. It is 
authorised to seek any information it requires from any employee and all employees are directed to co-operate 
with any request made by the EXCO.

	 The EXCO may seek authorisation from the Board of Directors to obtain independent professional advice with 
relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

7.0	R eporting

	 The Chairman of the EXCO shall report to the Board of Directors, either formally in writing or verbally at Board 
Meeting all matters or updates as mandated by the Board of Directors.

	 The EXCO shall report to the Board of Directors on any specific matters referred to it by the Board for review 
and recommendation.

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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A)	 DIRECTORS (cont’d)

2)	 Board Balance

	 The Board has composition of 4 Independent & Non-Executive Directors and 3 Non-Independent & Non-Executive 
Directors. The Independent & Non-Executive Directors provide strong element on the Board. The role of Independent 
Non-Executive Directors is particularly important in ensuring that the long term interest of shareholders, employees, 
customers, suppliers and the many communities in which the Group conducts business with are being looked 
after. 

	A ll shareholders are fairly represented on the Board. The investment of minority shareholders is fairly represented 
by the 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors who make up half of the Board. 

3)	 Board Committees

	T he Board has put in place the following Committees to assist in carrying out its fiduciary duties. All of these 
Committees have written terms of reference clearly outlining their objectives, duties and powers. 

	 Executive Committee 

	 The role of the Executive Committee is described above under Section (A)(1) Composition of the Board. 

	 Audit Committee 

	T he objective of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board to review the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s 
and Group’s internal control systems and management information systems. The composition, summary of activities 
and terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been laid out in the Audit Committee Report from pages 19 to 
24.  

	 Nomination Committee 

	T he role of the Nomination Committee is described below under Section (5) Appointments to the Board. 

	 Remuneration Committee 

	T he role of the Remuneration Committee is described below under Paragraph (B) Directors’ Remuneration. 

4)	 Board Meetings and Supply of Information

	T he Board meets at least four (4) times a year which is scheduled at quarterly intervals, with additional meetings 
convened when necessary. 

	T hirteen (13) Board meetings that include Emergency Board Meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 
December 2009. Details of attendance of the Directors are disclosed on pages 7 to 8. 

	A ll Directors have access to draft quarterly Management Accounts of the Group. The new Board of Directors is looking 
at ways to improve reporting procedures and to ensure that timely information is supplied to Board members before 
Board meetings. 

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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A)	 DIRECTORS (cont’d)

4)	 Board Meetings and Supply of Information (cont’d)

	B oard papers are provided to all Directors on a regular basis to enable them to monitor the financial and operational 
performance of the Group. Senior Management staff are invited to attend Board meetings as and when required 
to provide the Board with the necessary information and clarification on issues that are deliberated during the 
meetings. 

	A ll Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and they may seek independent 
professionals’ advice, if required. 

5)	 Appointments to the Board

	 The objective of the Nomination Committee is to ensure that the appointed Directors bring to the Board, a mix of 
skills and expertise necessary to meet the requirements of corporate stewardship. The Nomination Committee will 
also assist the Board in reviewing, on an annual basis, the appropriate balance and size of Directors’ participation 
and in establishing procedures and processes towards an annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and contribution of each individual Director and Board Committee member. 

	T he Nomination Committee, in its terms of reference, is tasked with the duty of making suitable recommendations 
to fill vacancies on the Board and its Committees. Nonetheless, the approval for appointment of new Board or 
Committee Members rests with the Board as a whole. 

	 The Nomination Committee currently consists of the following Non-Executive Directors, majority of whom are 
Independent Directors: 

	 Nomination Committee Members prior	 Nomination Committee Members after 
	 to 17 March 2010	 to 17 March 2010 until to date	  

	E n. Long Md. Nor Amran bin Long Ibrahim 	YB hg. Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman Bin Shariff
	 - Chairman	 - Chairman
	 (Ceased on 17 March 2010)	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010)	  

	 En. Lai Moo Chan 	 En. D. Felix Dorairaj
	 (Ceased on 17 March 2010)	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010)	  

	E n. Low Kim Leng 	E n. Yusob Bin Md. Tasir
	 (Resigned on 8 July 2009)	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010)	  

	YB hg. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong 
	 (Resigned on 23 February 2010)		   

	E n. Mohd Shahril Bin Tan Sri Hamzah
	 (Appointed on 31 July 2009 and ceased on 17 March 2010)		

	

	T he Board will implement a process to be carried out by the Nomination Committee annually, for assessing the 
effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Committees of the Board and for assessing the contribution of each 
individual Director in the current financial year. 

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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A)	 DIRECTORS (cont’d)

6)	 Re-election to the Board

	I n accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (“AA”), all Directors who are appointed by the Board are 
subject to re-election by shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting held after their appointment. The AA also 
provide that at least one third of the Directors (including Managing Director) be subject to re-election by rotation at 
each Annual General Meeting, provided always that all Directors shall retire from office at least once in every three 
years but shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors who retire in each year are the Directors who have been 
longest in office since their last election. 

7)	 Directors’ Training

	T he Board acknowledges that continuous education is vital in keeping them abreast with corporate developments. 
The current Directors have constantly been updated with relevant reading materials and technical updates which will 
enhance their knowledge and equip them with the necessary skills to effectively discharge their duties as Directors 
of the Company. 

	T he Nomination Committee is tasked with recommending suitable professional educational and training programmes 
and will put in place training programmes for new Board Members in the current financial year. 

B)	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

1)	 Remuneration Committee

	T he objective of the Remuneration Committee is to set the policy framework and recommend to the Board on all 
aspects of remuneration, terms of employment, reward structure, and fringe benefits for Executive Directors, and 
other selected Top Management positions with the aim to attract, retain, and motivate individuals of the highest 
calibre. 

	 Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are determined by way of benchmarking to comparable organisations. Non-
Executive Directors are paid monthly allowances and meeting allowances based on attendance. 

	 The Remuneration Committee currently consists of the following Non-Executive Directors: 

	 Remuneration Committee Members	 Remuneration Committee Members 
	 Prior to 17 March 2010	 after 17 March 2010 until to date	  

	E n. Foo Ton Hin - Chairman	YB hg. Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman Bin Shariff
	 (Appointed on 31 July 2009 and ceased on 17 March 2010) 	 - Chairman (Appointed on 6 April 2010)
	
	E n. Low Kim Leng - Chairman	E n. Low Teik Kien 
	 (Resigned on 8 July 2009)	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010)

	E n. Long Md. Nor Amran bin Long Ibrahim	E n. Hew Thin Chay 
	 (Ceased on 17 March 2010)	 (Appointed on 6 April 2010 and ceased on 22 April 2010)

	E n. Lai Moo Chan	T uan Haji Slamat Bin Hamzah 
(Ceased on 17 March 2010)	 (Appointed on 26 April 2010)

	YB hg. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong 
	 (Appointed on 15 May 2009 and resigned on 23 February 2010)
	

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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B)	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d)

1)	 Remuneration Committee (cont’d)

	T he Remuneration Committee shall recommend to the Board on the remuneration and entitlements of all Directors 
(including the Non-Executive Chairman) and the Board will decide on the recommendations of the Remuneration 
Committee. The approval for Directors’ remuneration rests with the Board as a whole with the Directors abstaining 
from voting and deliberating on decisions in respect of their own remuneration package. 

	I ndividual Directors’ remuneration is not disclosed in the Annual Report. Directors’ remuneration are aggregated and 
categorised into appropriate components, number of Directors whose remuneration falls into successive bands of 
RM50,000.00, distinguishing between Executive and Non-Executive Directors, are shown on pages 74 to 75 of this 
Annual Report. 

C)	 SHAREHOLDERS

1)	 Shareholders and Investor Relations

	T he Board is committed in maintaining effective communications with the Company’s shareholders, stakeholders and 
the public generally. In accordance with Paragraph 9.02 of Bursa Securities LR, the Board discloses to the public all 
material information necessary for informed investment and takes reasonable steps to ensure that all shareholders 
enjoy equal access to such information. 

	S hareholders are also able to access the Company’s Annual Reports, Circulars to Shareholders, and the Group’s 
corporate and financial information from the Bursa Securities website. 

2)	 Annual General Meeting

	N otice of Annual General Meeting and related papers are sent out to shareholders at least 21 days before the date 
of the meeting. 

	A t each Annual General Meeting, the Board presents the progress and performance of the business and encourages 
shareholders to participate in the question and answer session. Executive Directors and the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, where appropriate, are available to respond to shareholders’ questions during the meeting. 

D) 	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

	T he Company is aware of its Corporate Social Responsibility and endeavours to operate as a responsible and ethical 
corporate entity. 

	T he Company also ensures its business practices comply with a general respect for its environment, community, customers, 
suppliers and its employees. 

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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E)	 ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1)	 Financial Reporting

	I n presenting the annual financial statements and quarterly announcements to shareholders, the Directors aim to present 
a balanced and easy to comprehend assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. The statement of Directors 
pursuant to Section 169 of the Companies Act 1965 is set out on page 39 whereas the Directors’ Responsibility. 
Statement pursuant to Paragraph 15.27(a) of Bursa Securities LR is on page 25 of this Annual Report. 

2)	 Internal Control

	T he Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls covering not only financial 
controls but also operational and compliance controls as well as risk management. The internal control system 
involves each business and key management from each business, including the Board, and designed to meet the 
Group’s particular needs and to manage the risks to which it is exposed. The system, by its nature, can only provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatement or loss. 

	T he present Board intends to review the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal controls weaknesses. 
These weaknesses and steps to be taken to mitigate the weaknesses are highlighted in the Board’s Statement on 
Internal Control as set out on pages 17 to 18 of this Annual Report. 

3)	 Relationship with the auditors

	 The Company maintains a transparent relationship with the external auditors in seeking their professional advice 
towards ensuring compliance with the accounting standards. 

	T he role of the Audit Committee in relation to the auditors is stated in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference on 
page 22.

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)
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Other Information Required Based 
on the Listing Requirements
1.	 Sanctions and/or Penalties 

	D uring the financial year ended 31 December 2009, there were no sanctions nor any material penalties imposed on 
the Company or its subsidiaries, directors or management by the relevant regulatory bodies save and except for the 
following:-

	T he Company had on 3 May 2010 been publicly reprimanded by Bursa Securities for breach of Paragraph 9.03(1) and 
9.04(l) of Bursa Securities LR and paragraph 2.1(e) of Practice Note No.1 (“PN1”).

	P aragraph 9.03(1) of Bursa Securities LR states that a listed issuer must make an immediate announcement of default in 
payments of either interest or principal sums or both in respect of a credit facility, which is reasonably expected to have 
a material effect on the price, value or market activity of any of the listed issuer’s securities or the decision of a holder of 
securities of the listed issuer or an investor in determining his choice of action.

	T he Company and its’ 70% subsidiary, Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd, had defaulted on payments of interest and principal 
in respect of banking facilities granted by AmBank (M) Bhd, CIMB Bank Bhd and RHB Bank Bhd, with an aggregate amount 
outstanding as at 31 December 2007 of RM27,359,000. However, announcement on the default was made only on 23 
April 2008. Therefore, the Company had breached paragraphs 9.03(1) and 9.04(l) of Bursa Securities LR read together with 
paragraph 2.1(e) of PN1 for failing to make an immediate announcement of the defaults in payments by the Company and 
its subsidiary. 

	
2.	 Material Contracts

	N one of the Directors and/or major shareholders have any material contract with the Company and/or its subsidiaries 
save and except for the significant related-party transactions as disclosed in Note 37 of the financial statements during 
the financial year 2009. 

3.	 Non-audit Fees

	D uring the financial year, the total non-audit fees incurred for services rendered to the Company and/or its subsidiaries 
by the external auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young or a firm or company affiliated to Messrs Ernst & Young amounted to 
RM314,000. 

4.	 Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties

	T he Group has not adopted a regular revaluation policy on landed properties.

5.	 Share Buy-Back

	 The Group has not undertaken any share buy-back exercise for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

6.	 Options or Convertible Securities

	 There were no options or convertible securities exercised during the financial year 2009.

7.	 Depository Receipt Programme (“DRP”)

	T he Group did not sponsor any DRP during the financial year 2009.
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Other Information Required Based 
on the Listing Requirements (cont’d)

8.	 Profit estimate, forecast or projection

	T he Company did not release any profit estimate, forecast or projection for the financial year. There was no variance of 
10% or more between the results for the financial year 2009 and the unaudited results previously announced by the 
Company. 

9.	 Profit Guarantee

	D uring the financial year, there was no profit guarantee given by the Group.

10.	 Utilisation of proceeds

	T here were proceeds raised by the Group during the financial year 2009 via disposal of 5 non-core landbanks for repayment 
of term loans and working capital purposes as shown in the following table:

	
		  	C ash	U tilisation		B  alance	C ash	C ash
			   received	 		 as at 31	 received	 expected to
			   in Year	 Loan	 Working	T otal in	D ecember	 as at	 be received
			   2009	 repayment	 capital	Y ear 2009	 2009	 30 April	 after 30
		C  onsideration	 (A)	 (B)	 (C)	 (B) + (C)	 (A) – (C)	 2010	A pril 2010
		  (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	 (RM’000)	

	

Geran 55267, 	 9,829	 9,829	 5,496	 3,363	 8,859	 970	 -	 -
	 Lot 38474, Mukim 
	 of Petaling, District of 
	 Kuala Lumpur, 
	 Wilayah Persekutuan		   

	

Geran 53418, 	 5,678	 4,083	 -	 4,083	 4,083	 -	 1,595	 -
	 Lot 39868, Mukim of 
	P etaling, District of 
	 Kuala Lumpur, 
	 Wilayah Persekutuan	  

	

Geran 55268, 	 19,408	 6,637	 -	 6,637	 6,637	 -	 -	 12,771
	 Lot 38476, Mukim of 
	P etaling, District of 
	 Kuala Lumpur, 
	 Wilayah Persekutuan		   

	

Geran 55265,	 7,642	 1,146	 -	 1,146	 1,146	 -	 -	 6,496 
	 Lot 38472, 
	M ukim of Petaling, 
	D istrict of Kuala Lumpur, 
	 Wilayah Persekutuan		   

	

H.S.(D) 812 No.PT 4150 	 7,200	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,200	 -
	M ukim of Cheras, 
	D istrict of Hulu Langat, 
	N egeri Selangor		   

	

Total	 49,757	 21,695	 5,496	 15,229	 20,725	 970	 8,795	 19,267	
	

	D etails of disposal of lands are disclosed in Note 38 (a) & (b) of the financial statements. 
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Statement on Internal Control

Introduction

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance stipulates that the Board of Directors of listed companies should maintain a sound 
system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investment and Group’s assets. Set out below is the Statement on Internal 
Control (“Statement”) of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and its subsidiaries, made by the Board of Directors of Ho Hup 
Construction Company Berhad in compliance with Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing 
Requirements (“LR”) and the Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies.

Responsibility

The Board of Directors acknowledges that it is collectively responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and reviewing 
its adequacy and integrity. The Group’s system of internal control includes controls of an operational and compliance nature, as 
well as internal financial controls. The internal control system is designed to identify and manage significant risks in pursuit of 
the Group’s business objectives as well as to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. 

The system serves to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against the risk of material loss. The concept of reasonable 
assurance recognises that the cost of control procedures shall not exceed the expected benefits.

The Group’s System of Internal Control

Operating Style and Monitoring Mechanisms

Since August 2008, the decision making process for the Group’s daily operations were largely based on the Executive Committee 
(“EXCO”). Subsequent to the appointment of the Group Managing Director (“GMD”) on 1 June 2009, the responsibilities of 
the Group’s operational matters were undertaken by the GMD. The roles and responsibilities of the EXCO was reactivated and 
resumed actively after 17 March 2010, after the change in Board of Directors and removal of the former Executive Directors.  

In the third quarter of 2009, the Group outsourced its internal audit function to an independent advisory firm at a fee of 
approximately RM20,000.

A large part of the internal audit scope is to ascertain the extent of compliance of the Group on current corporate governance 
practices against the prescriptions of the revised Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance and recommend steps to improve 
accountability, transparency and operational efficiency. 

The present Board took office following the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) on 17 March 2010, which is less than 3 
months as date of this report and is largely focusing on stabilising daily operations and finalising the Regularisation Plan. 

During the year, the Group faced many challenges and limitations among which are its PN17 status, cashflow limitation, staff 
resignation and project issues. 

Resulting from the above constraints and limitations placed on the Management, the Group’s strategic, financial, organisational 
and compliance structures were subject to various risks as follows:-

a.	A  lack of segregation of duties due to minimal resources pending the turnaround and uplifting of PN17 status of the Group. 
As a result, certain shortcomings resulted in performing critical reviews, checks and balances in certain operational areas; 

b.	I nadequate assessment and evaluation in taking on new projects. 

c.	I nability for the Group to have a firm business plan and Regularisation plan in view of dissenting view of major shareholders; 
and

d.	 Weaker than satisfactory level of monitoring and management control over projects executed.  
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EXCO of the Board

To strengthen the internal control environment, the EXCO was reactivated in March 2010 to oversee all aspects of the Group’s 
operations and put in place various procedures for check and balances and approval procedures to improve governance and 
internal control. It is envisaged that with these new governance procedures, internal control and governance issues can be 
improved and addressed. 

Other Key features of the Group’s Internal Control System

Going forward, the salient features of the Group’s system of internal control are as follows:

•	 An EXCO and management structure with defined lines of roles and responsibilities; 
•	 Regular briefing of the projects’ progress by the Head of Department and subsidiaries to the Exco; and 
•	 Establishing a structured Enterprise Risk Management Framework for the Group. This process involves the establishment of 

an appropriate risk management framework including reporting structure, principles roles and responsibilities of respective 
Committees and Operating Units. In addition, the process also includes identifying the key risk areas, assessing the likelihood 
and impact of material exposures on the Group.

Assurance Mechanism

The Board will continuously review the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal control. The Audit Committee, 
on behalf of Board, will review the adequacy and the integrity of the system of internal control. 

In addition, as part of the statutory audit of the financial statement, the external auditors perform tests over certain financial 
controls. Any weaknesses detected are highlighted to the Audit Committee through management letters or articulated at Audit 
Committee meetings.

The Audit Committee Report set out on page 24 contains further information on the Committee’s activities as well as that of 
the internal auditors.

The Group’s system of internal control mainly applies to its operating units and does not cover associated companies, dormant 
companies and overseas operations. 

It is the intention of the new Board members to ensure that the above accords with the guidance as outlined in Statement of 
Internal Control Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies.

Board’s Commitment

The Board understands the challenges it faces in light of the Company’s status under PN1 & PN17 of Bursa Securities LR. The 
structure of controls and operations will be continuously and gradually improved to ensure they remain adequate and appropriate 
to the Company’s and Group’s situation. The Board remains committed to maintain a sound system of internal control and will, 
when necessary, put in place actions to continuously improve and enhance the Group’s system of internal control.

This statement is made at the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on 26 May 2010.

Statement on Internal Control (cont’d)
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Audit Committee Report

1.	 Constitution

	T he Audit Committee (“the Committee”) of the Company was established by the Board of Directors in 1993. 

2. 	 Composition

	A s at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises two (2) members of the Board, all of whom are Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. 

	T he Chairman of the Committee has been vacant due to resignation of YBhg. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong on 23 February 2010 
and recent Board removal exercise which was held on 17 March 2010. Currently, the Board is in the midst of evaluating 
and assessing an additional member for the Committee. 

3. 	 Members

	M embers of the Board who are currently serving on the Audit Committee as at the date of the Annual Report are as 
follows:-
1.	E n. Chow Seck Kai, Member; and 
2.	T uan Haji Slamat Bin Hamzah, Member.  

4. 	 Frequency of Meetings

	 For the financial year under review, the Committee met six (6) times including Special Audit Committee meetings. Details 
of the attendance of the Committee Members are as follows:

		  Date of Appointment 	 No. of Meetings Attended /	
Attendance	 / Resignation	  Held whilst in Office	 	
YBhg. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong (Chairman)	R esigned on 23 February 2010	 6/6

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 	  	
En. Long Md. Nor Amran bin Long Ibrahim	C eased on 17 March 2010	 5/6

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 	  	
En. Mohd Shahril Bin Tan Sri Hamzah	A ppointed on 31 July 2009 and 	 2/2

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 ceased on 17 March 2010	 	 	 	
En. Foo Ton Hin 	A ppointed on 31 July 2009 and	 2/2

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 ceased on 17 March 2010 	
En. Lai Moo Chan	A ppointed on 31 July 2009 and	 2/2

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 ceased on 17 March 2010	 	  	
En. Low Kim Leng	R esigned on 8 July 2009	 4/4

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 	  	
En. Chow Seck Kai	A ppointed on 13 May 2010	N /A

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 	  	
Tuan Haji Slamat Bin Hamzah	A ppointed on 13 May 2010	N /A

	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)	 	  	
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5. 	 Terms of Reference

1.0	 Composition of the Audit Committee

	T he Board shall appoint the Audit Committee members from amongst themselves, comprising no fewer than three 
(3) non-executive directors. The majority of the Audit Committee members shall be Independent Directors. 

	A ll members of the Audit Committee shall be financially literate and at least one (1) member of the Audit Committee 
must be:-

a)	 a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountant (“MIA”); or

b)	 if he is not a member of MIA, he must have at least three (3) years of working experience and:

i.	 he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Accountants Act 
1967; or

ii.	 he must be a member of one of the associations of the accountants specified in Part II of the First Schedule 
of the Accountants Act 1967; or

c)	 fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Securities.

	N o alternate Director of the Board shall be appointed as a member of the Audit Committee. 

	T he term of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members shall be reviewed by 
the Board at least once every three (3) years to determine whether such Audit Committee and members have 
carried out their duties in accordance with their terms of reference.

	 Retirement and resignation 

	I f a member of the Audit Committee resigns, dies, or for any reason ceases to be a member resulting in non-
compliance to the composition criteria as stated in the above paragraph, the Board shall within three (3) months 
of the event appoint such number of the new members as may be required to fill the vacancy. 

2.0	 Chairman

	T he members of the Audit Committee shall elect a Chairman from amongst their number who shall be an Independent 
Director. In the absence of the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the other members of the Audit Committee shall 
amongst themselves elect a Chairman who must be Independent Director to chair the meeting.

3.0 	 Secretary of the Audit Committee (“Committee Secretary”)

	T he Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Audit Committee and as a reporting procedure, the Minutes 
shall be circulated to all members of the Board.

Audit Committee Report (cont’d)



21	 ho hup construction company berhad (14034-W)

	 2009 Annual Report

Audit Committee Report (cont’d)

5. 	 Terms of Reference (cont’d)

4.0	 Meetings and Minutes

	T he Audit Committee shall meet regularly, with due notice of issues to be discussed, and shall record its conclusions 
in discharging its duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Chairman may call for additional meetings at any time 
at the Chairman’s discretion.

	T he Chairman of the Audit Committee shall engage on a continuous basis with Senior Management, such as the 
Chairman, the Managing Director, the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), the head of internal audit and the external 
auditors in order to be kept informed of matters affecting the Company. 

	 The CFO, the head of internal audit and a representative of the external auditors should normally attend meetings. 
Other Board members and employees may attend meetings upon the invitation of the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee shall be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, without 
executive Board members or employees present whenever deemed necessary and at least twice a year with the 
external auditors.

	T he quorum for the Audit Committee meeting shall be the majority of members present whom must be Independent 
Directors.

	M inutes of each meeting shall be kept at the registered office and distributed to each member of the Audit Committee 
and also to the other members of the Board. The Audit Committee Chairman shall report on each meeting to the 
Board.

5.0 	 Objectives

	T he principal objectives of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in discharging its statutory duties and 
responsibilities relating to accounting and reporting practices of the holding company and each of its subsidiaries. In 
addition, the Audit Committee shall:-

(a)	 evaluate the quality of the audits performed by the internal and external auditors;

(b)	 provide assurance that the financial information presented by management is relevant, reliable and timely;

(c)	 oversee compliance with laws and regulations and observance of a proper code of conduct; and

(d)	 determine the quality, adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s control environment.

6.0 	 Authority 

	 The Audit Committee shall, in accordance with a procedure to be determined by the Board and at the expense of the 
Company,

(a)	 have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, the resources to do so, and full 
access to information. All employees shall be directed to co-operate as requested by members of the Audit 
Committee. 

(b)	 have full and unlimited/unrestricted access to all information and documents/resources which are required to 
perform its duties as well as to the internal and external auditors and senior management of the Company and 
Group.
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Audit Committee Report (cont’d)

5. 	 Terms of Reference (cont’d)

	 6.0 	Authority

(c)	 obtain independent professional or other advice and to invite outsiders with relevant experience to attend, if 
necessary.

(d)	 have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit 
function or activity (if any).

(e)	 where the Audit Committee is of the view that the matter reported by it to the Board has not been satisfactorily 
resolved resulting in a breach of the Listing Requirements, the Audit Committee shall promptly report such 
matter to Bursa Securities.

(f)	 convene meetings with the external auditors, without the presence of executive members of the Audit Committee, 
whenever deemed necessary.

7.0 	 Duties and Responsibilities 

	T he duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are as follows:-

(a)	 To consider the appointment of the external auditor, the audit fee and any question of resignation or 
dismissal;

(b)	 To discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure 
co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved; 

(c)	 To review with the external auditor his evaluation of the system of internal controls and his audit report;

(d)	T o review the quarterly and year-end financial statements of the Board, focusing particularly on –

•	 any change in accounting policies and practices;

•	 significant adjustments arising from the audit;

•	 the going concern assumption; and

•	 compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements.

(e)	T o discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matter the auditor may 
wish to discuss (in the absence of management, where necessary);

(f)	 To review the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response;
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Audit Committee Report (cont’d)

5. 	 Terms of Reference (cont’d)

7.0 	 Duties and Responsibilities (cont’d)

(g)	T o do the following, in relation to the internal audit function:-

•	 review the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function, and 
that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

•	 review the internal audit programme and results of the internal audit process and, where necessary, ensure 
that appropriate actions are taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;

•	 review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;

•	 approve any appointment or termination of senior staff members of the internal audit function; and

•	 take cognizance of resignations of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff member an 
opportunity to submit his reasons for resigning.

(h)	T o consider any related party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company 
or Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management 
integrity; 

(i)	T o report its findings on the financial and management performance, and other material matters to the Board; 

(j)	T o consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response;

(k)	T o verify the allocation of employees’ share option scheme (“ESOS”) in compliance with the criteria as stipulated 
in the by-laws of ESOS of the Company, if any;

(l)	T o determine the remit of the internal audit function;

(m)	T o consider other topics as defined by the Board; 

(n)	T o advise the Board of Directors and make recommendation in respect of risk management as to the  following 
matters :

•	 To monitor risk management processes are integrated into all core business processes and that the culture 
of the organization reflects the risk consciousness of the Board;

•	 Review the Risk  Register and ensure that all risks are well managed;

•	 Review the enterprise risk scorecard and determine the risks to be escalated to the Board once a year; 
and

•	 Provide a consolidated risk and assurance report to the Board to support the statement relating to internal 
control in the Company’s annual report; and   

(o)	 To consider and examine such other matters as the Audit Committee considers appropriate.  
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ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE 

The Committee carried out its duties in accordance with its Terms of Reference.

The main activities carried out by the Committee were as follows:

•	 reviewed and recommended to the Board on the reappointment of external auditors and their proposed fees;

•	 reviewed the external auditors’ scope of work and audit plan for the Group together with external auditors;

•	 reviewed the quarterly interim results and annual financial statements before announcements to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad to ensure compliance with regulatory requirement such as Listing Requirements, Malaysian Accounting Standard 
Board, and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements;

•	 assessed and evaluated the appointment of independent internal audit services that carried out outsourced internal audit 
function for the Group; 

•	 reviewed the result of corporate governance excercise that highlighted weaknesses and recommendations on improving 
the current corporate governance; 

•	 reviewed and kept abreast with on-going matters within the Group that include status of material litigation and updates 
on the Regularisation Plan; and 

•	 shortlisted statutory auditors, reviewed their proposal and made a recommendation to the Board of Directors. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION 

The Committee has appointed an independent advisory firm, namely Columbus Advisory Sdn Bhd, to carry out internal audit 
function for the Group.

During the financial year under review, the internal auditors had conducted Corporate Governance review exercise to ascertain 
the extent of compliance of the Group on current corporate governance practices against the prescriptions of the revised 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance and enhance the degree of accountability, transparency and operational efficiency 
to a higher level.

Audit Committee Report (cont’d)
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement
In Relation to the Audited Financial Statements

The Directors are aware that they are required by the Companies Act, 1965 to ensure that the financial statements for each 
financial year have been made out in accordance with applicable Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia and give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company at the end of the financial year and of the results and cash flows of 
the Group and Company for the financial year.

The Directors acknowledged that they have the collective responsibility for ensuring that the Group and the Company maintain 
proper accounting records which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia. 	

The majority of the Directors were appointed on 17 March 2010. Nonetheless in preparing the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Directors have reviewed the accounting policies and practices to ensure that 
they were consistently applied throughout the year. In cases where judgement and estimates were made, they were based 
on reasonableness and prudence.
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Chairman’s Statement

INTRODUCTION

The majority of Directors in the present Board took office following the Extraordinary General Meeting 

(“EGM”) on 17 March 2010 which is just about 2 months prior to date. Nevertheless, the present 

Board has taken steps to assess the various financial and operational challenges facing the Ho Hup 

Construction Company Berhad (“Ho Hup” or the “Company”) and its subsdiaries (collectively referred 

to as “Group”).

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Ho Hup, I present to you the Annual Report and the Financial 

Statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Group recorded a net loss after tax  of RM34.7 million (2008 : net loss after 
tax of RM56.2 million) on a marginally lower Group Revenue of RM80.1 million (2008 : RM91.2 million). Although there were 
gains on disposal of various pieces of vacant land amounting to RM12.9 million, the gains were reduced by several charges to 
the income statement which resulted in the net loss after tax. These charges included the loss resulting from the settlement 
with the Government of Madagascar amounting to RM23.3 million. As a result of the loss for the year, the Group’s shareholders’ 
equity declined to a deficit of RM14.6 million from RM18.8 million in 2008.

HO HUP’S PROPOSED REGULARISATION PLAN

Ho Hup has been an affected listed issuer under PN17 of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirements 
since 31 July 2008. 

On 30 October 2009, the Group’s investment bank advisor had submitted the PN17 Regularisation Plan (the “Initial Regularisation 
Plan”) to Bursa Securities which entails the following:

(i)	 Proposed capital reduction of the existing issued and paid-up share capital from 102,000,408 ordinary shares of RM1.00 
each to RM5,100,020 comprising 102,000,408 ordinary shares of RM0.05 each, by cancelling RM96,900,388 of Ho Hup’s 
issued and paid-up share capital or RM0.95 of the par value of each existing share pursuant to Section 64 of the Companies 
Act, 1965;

(ii)	P roposed consolidation of the resultant 102,000,408 ordinary shares of RM0.05 each into 5,100,020 ordinary shares of 
RM1.00 each, on the basis of 20 ordinary shares of RM0.05 each into one (1) ordinary share of RM1.00 each, following 
the Proposed Capital Reduction;

(iii)	P roposed issuance of 26,250,000 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each to investors to be selected by the Board, at an 
issue price of RM1.00 each; and

(iv)	P roposed renounceable rights issue of 12,750,050 Rights Shares, at an issue price of RM1.00 per Rights Share, on the 
basis of five (5) Rights Shares for every two (2) Ho Hup ordinary shares held (after taking into consideration the Proposed 
Capital Reconstruction) at an entitlement date to be determined later.
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Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)

Aside from the above proposed Initial Regularisation Plan, the Company has also proposed the disposal of non-core landbanks 
in which five (5) landed properties of approximately 27.5 acres which are not expected to contribute materially to the business 
of the Company in the future were to be disposed. 

Following the Initial Regularisation Plan, the future prospects of Ho Hup hinges to a large extent on the successful development 
of a 60 acres (24.3 hectare) parcel of freehold commercial land (“60 Acres Land”), currently held by its 70% subsidiary; Bukit 
Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”), into an integrated commercial centre (“the Proposed Development”). A large portion of 
Ho Hup’s foreseeable future revenue stream and profitability is expected to be contributed from the development and sales 
of the various residential and commercial units in the Proposed Development.

On 17 March 2010 prior to the EGM taking place, the Company had announced that BJD had entered into a Joint Development 
Agreement with Pioneer Haven Sdn Bhd (“the JDA”), for the Proposed Development of the 60 Acres Land. Consequently, in 
May 2010, the Company initiated legal action in Court to declare the JDA void and of which the case is on-going.

On 14 April 2010, the Company obtained a further extension of time to 4 August 2010 to submit a Regularisation Plan to Bursa 
Malaysia. The Board endeavours to pursue finalisation of the Regularisation Plan. 

OVERVIEW OF GROUP OPERATIONS

Construction

Total revenue in construction activities increased marginally from RM35.8 million in 2008 to RM37.6 million in 2009 while the 
loss from operations declined to RM34.5 million from RM58.2 million recorded in 2008. The results reflected a declining project 
order book and the loss is mainly due to exceptional charges resulting from the settlement of dispute with the Madagascar 
government amounting to RM23.3 million.

The Company’s RM127 million Trans Eastern Kedah Interland Highway project is on-going. Phase 7B comprising 20 units of 
2 1/2 storey semi-detached houses in Jalil Sutera, Bandar Bukit Jalil commenced in 2009. Also a new project worth RM18 
million to construct the integrated staff quarters for Hospital Tengku Ampuan Rahimah, Klang was secured during the year. The 
Board and Management have taken steps to pursue new construction projects for the coming year. 

Property Development

The property development division registered a slight increase in revenue from RM23.1 million achieved in 2008 to RM27.8 
million in 2009. The improved performance resulted from the completion of 62 units of semi-detached and superlink terrace 
houses in Jalil Sutera Phases 5-7A between June 2009 to December 2009.

Ready-Mixed Concrete

Total revenue for the ready-mixed concrete division declined 43% to RM20.1 million in 2009 (2008: RM35.2 million) due to 
intense competition.  Despite the decline in revenue, the division has been able to control cost which resulted in a marginal 
increase in operational loss of RM0.7 million by recording a net loss of RM2.2 million against the net loss of RM1.5 million 
recorded for the previous year.
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CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT
 
Since the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), the Company 
has called for 3 EGMs wherein 4 pieces of the non-core 
landbank measuring 24.2 acres were approved for disposal.  
Resulting from these disposals, the Group would have 
received funds amounting to about RM42.1 million for working 
capital and repayment of borrowings. Concurrently, the Group 
have recorded a gain of RM12.86 million in 2009 and a further 
RM7.59 million will be recognised in 2010. The final remaining 
piece of land has been sold but pending shareholders’ approval 
which is scheduled in June 2010.

In November 2009, 12 units of the 2 1/2 storey superlink 
semi detached houses under Phase 7A, were completed and 
handed over to the purchasers ahead of schedule. A handing-
over ceremony officiated by the former Y.B.Minister of Housing 
and Local Government was held on 4 November 2009. This 
event also marked the completion of the rehabilitation of the 
abandoned Jalil Sutera development comprising 20 units of 
houses.
 
In January 2010, 2 shareholders having substantial interest in 
Ho Hup issued a special notice to call for an EGM to remove 
6 out of 7 directors and appoint 6 new directors in their place 
as a result of their dissatisfaction with the Initial Regularisation 
Plan. The first EGM on 4 February 2010 was injuncted by 
the Courts and subsequently another notice was issued on 
11 February 2010 for an EGM to be convened on 17 March 
2010 and the same resolutions were proposed. The EGM was 
convened and motion carried out.

As mentioned earlier, BJD entered into the JDA which  was 
announced on 17 March 2010 and is now the subject of 
litigation to declare the JDA void. 

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

With the world economic turmoil and financial crisis being 
somewhat abated, global economies including Malaysia has 
gradually improved and showing signs of positive recovery 
and growth in 2010. The Malaysian economy is expected to 
steadily improve and grow in 2010 as compared to the last 
2 years. 

The domestic construction sector which is expected to grow 
steadily in the 3rd and 4th quarters of 2010 in tandem with 
the Government’s initiative to rollout mega projects such as 
the Pahang-Selangor Water Transfer, Light Rail Transit (LRT) 
extensions and Iskandar Development as well as continue to 
allocate substantial budget sums to the construction sector 
under the second stimulus package. 

Against this background of positive economy recovery, the 
Board is cautiously optimistic of the prospects of 2010.
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On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our shareholders, 
valued customers, government authorities and agencies, 
consultants, financiers, business associates, sub-contractors, 
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TAN SRI DATO’ KAMARUZZAMAN BIN SHARIFF
Chairman

Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)
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Analysis of Shareholdings
As at 26 April 2010

Authorised Share Capital	 : 	RM 200,000,000.00
Issued and Fully Paid-Up	 :	RM 102,000,408.00
Class of Shares	 :	O rdinary Shares of One Ringgit Each
No of Shareholders	 :	 2,107	  
Voting-Right	 :	O ne Vote Per Ordinary Share 

	 No. of		  No. of
	 Shareholders		  Ordinary		
Size of Holding		  %	 Shares	  %

1-99	 121	 5.74	 2,676	 0.00	  
100-1,000	 365	 17.32	 202,421	 0.20	  
1,001-10,000	 1,313	 62.32	 5,094,695	 5.00	  
10,001-100,000	 262	 12.43	 7,323,847	 7.18	  
100,001-5,100,019*	 44	 2.09	 38,507,414	 37.75	  
5,100,020 and above**	 2	 0.10	 50,869,355	 49.87	  

Total	 2,107	 100.00	 102,000,408	 100.00	  

Notes:
*	 Less than 5% of issued shares
**	 5% and above of issued shares

Directors’ Interest in Shares

	 Direct		  Indirect
Name of Directors	 Shareholdings	 %	 Shareholdings	 %	  

 

Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman Bin Shariff	 -	 -	 -	 -	  
Low Teik Kien	 698,700	 0.68	 25,162,629(1)	 24.67	  
Chow Seck Kai	 1,284,600	 1.26	 -	 -	  
Yusob Bin Md Tasir	 -	 -	 -	 -	  
D. Felix Dorairaj	 -	 -	 -	 -
Haji Slamat Bin Hamzah	 -	 -	 -	 -	  
Dato’ Ramli Bin Yusuff	 -	 -	 -	 -

Notes:
(1)	D eemed interest by virtue of his shareholdings in Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd and Low Chee Estate.
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List of thirty largest shareholders 

	 Name	 No. of Shares	 %

1.	 Extreme System Sdn Bhd	 28,506,326	 27.95	

2.	 Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd	 22,363,029	 21.92	

3.	T ong Kiot Seng @ Tong Yoke Kim	 7,423,500	 7.28	

4.	 Lee Choon Hooi	 5,016,500	 4.92	

5.	M  & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 2,607,500	 2.56
	P ledged Securities A/C for Low Tuck Choy (M&A)		

6.	 Low Tuck Choy	 2,050,000	 2.01	

7.	M  & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 2,042,000	 2.00
	P ledged Securities A/C for Choo Soo Har @ Chou Kam Cheong

8.	 Griyajaya Sdn Bhd	 1,945,600	 1.91	

9.	C hung Hon Cheong	 1,850,000	 1.81	

10.	M  & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,279,600	 1.25
	P ledged Securities A/C for Chow Seck  Kai (M&A) 		

11.	 Lee Tiong Woon	 955,400	 0.94	

12.	B eh Yek Leng	 944,100	 0.93	

13.	 Low Lai Yong	 870,500	 0.85	

14.	 Woo Thin Fook	 815,000	 0.80	

15.	 Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd	 749,600	 0.73	

16.	A .A. Anthony Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 698,700	 0.69
	CIMB  Bank for Low Teik Kien (M78009)	

17.	B ernard Wong Shoon Tet	 697,000	 0.68	

18.	 Goo Moy He	 651,700	 0.64	

19.	E steem Evergreen Sdn Bhd	 557,000	 0.55	

20.	H o Yoon Shin @ Michael Ho	 525,000	 0.51	

21.	 Lim Hock Ming	 520,000	 0.51	

22.	 Kew Hoi Lam @ Hew Hoi Lam	 505,400	 0.50	

23.	 Lim Aik Fu	 444,700	 0.44	

24.	T eoh Choo Aun	 428,700	 0.42	

Analysis of Shareholdings (cont’d)
As at 26 April 2010
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List of thirty largest shareholders (cont’d)

	 Name	 No. of Shares	 %

25.	 Low Yew Eng	 418,400	 0.41	

26.	APT  Avenue Sdn Bhd	 365,500	 0.36	

27.	C how Chee Onn	 359,900	 0.35	

28.	P arathan A/L V.Sithamberam	 345,000	 0.34	

29.	 Lee Chenk Guan	 340,000	 0.33	

30.	N g Hock Heng	 301,400	 0.30

Substantial Shareholders Based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders 

	 Direct	 Indirect
Name 	 No. of 		  No. of
	 Shares held	 %	 Shares held	 %

Extreme System Sdn Bhd	 28,506,326	 27.95	 -	 -

YBhg. Datin Viannie Damit @ Undikai	 -	 -	 28,506,326(4)	 27.95	  

YBhg. Datuk Lye Ek Seang	 -	 -	 28,506,326(2)	 27.95	  

YBhg. Dato’ Low Tuck Choy	 2,607,500	 2.56	 25,162,629(3)	 24.67

Low Teik Kien	 698,700	 0.68	 25,162,629(3)	 24.67

Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd	 23,112,629	 22.66	 -	 -

Toh Hong Hooi	 -	 -	 28,506,326(4)	 27.95

Lim Tow Fuh			   28,506,326(4)	 27.95

Tan Mei Lian	 -	 -	 28,506,326(4)	 27.95

Low Lai Yoong	 870,500	 0.85	 23,478,129(1)	 23.02

Tan Sri Tong Yoke Kim @ Tong Kiot Seng	 7,423,500	 7.28	 -	 -

Notes:

(1)	 Deemed interest by virtue of her shareholdings in Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd and APT Avenue Sdn Bhd.
(2)	 Deemed interest by virtue of his spouse, Datin Viannie Damit @ Undikai’s substantial shareholdings in Extreme System 

Sdn Bhd.
(3)	 Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholdings in Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd and Low Chee Estate. 
(4)	 Deemed interest by virtue of his/her substantial shareholdings in Extreme System Sdn Bhd.

Analysis of Shareholdings (cont’d)
As at 26 April 2010
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List of Properties
As at 31 December 2009

Address/Location	 Age of	 Date of	 Tenure	 Size/Area	 Existing	 Description	 Net Book
	 Building 	 Acquisition			   Use		  Value 	
							       RM’000

2B 1st Floor	 32 years	 1/7/1986	 Freehold	 900	O ffice	S hophouse	 66
Medan Imbi				    sq.ft.	P remise
Kuala Lumpur

Lot A4-01	 23 years	 2/12/1985	 Leasehold	 2,412	R ented	 Flatted factory	 241
4th Floor, Kuala Lumpur	 	 	 Expires	 sq.ft.
Industrial Park			   in year
8KM Jalan Klang Lama			   2063
Kuala Lumpur

Lot 36101	 -	 12/9/1995	 Freehold	 60	P roperty	D evelopment	 120,874
Mukim of Petaling				    acres	D evelopment	 land
Wilayah Persekutuan
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Directors’ Report

Majority of the present Board was appointed by the shareholders pursuant during an Extraordinary General Meeting on 17 
March 2010 and as such the directors present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 to the best of their knowledge and ability.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Company consist of foundation engineering, civil engineering, building contracting works and hire 
of plant and machinery.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are disclosed in Note 19, 20 and 21 to the 
financial statements respectively.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year.

Pursuant to the amendments to the Listing Requirements (“LR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) in 
relation to Practice Note No. 17/2005 (“Amended PN17”) the Company on 31 July 2008 announced (“First Announcement”) 
that the Company is deemed an Affected Listed issuer as defined in the Amended PN17 as the auditors have expressed a 
disclaimer opinion in the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008 
respectively.

As an Affected Listed Issuer, the Company is required pursuant to paragraph 3.1(a)(ii) of the Amended PN17 to comply with 
the following obligations:

(a)	 to announce details of the Regularisation Plan as referred to in paragraph 8.14C(3) of the Listing Requirements which 
announcement must fulfill the requirements set out in paragraph 3.1A of the Amended PN 17/2005;

(b)	 to submit the Regularisation Plan to the Securities Commission, and other relevant authorities (“Approving Authority”), 
for approval within eight (8) months from the date of the First Announcement; and to implement the Regularisation Plan 
within the timeframe stipulated by the relevant Approving Authority;

(c)	 to announce the status of its plan to regularise its condition and the number of months to the end of the relevant 
timeframes referred thereto, as may be applicable on a monthly basis until further notice from Bursa Securities; and

(d)	 to announce its compliance or non-compliance with a particular obligation imposed pursuant to Amended PN17/2005 on 
an immediate basis.

In the event that the Company fails to comply with the obligation to regularise its condition, all of its listed securities shall be 
suspended from trading on the 5th market day after the Submission Timeframe or Implementation Timeframe, as the case may 
be, and de-listing procedures shall be taken against the Company by Bursa Securities.

On 30 March 2010, the Company had announced that it had submitted an application to Bursa Securities for a further extension 
of time of four (4) months up to 4 August 2010 to submit its revised regularisation plan to the relevant authorities pursuant to 
the provisions of PN 17 of Bursa Securities Listing Requirements. In this regard, the Company had on 14 April 2010 announced 
that Bursa Securities had granted an extension of time of four (4) months i.e. from 4 April 2010 to 4 August 2010 to submit the 
Company’s revised regularisation plan to Bursa Securities for approval.
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Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Results

 Group  Company 

RM’000  RM’000

Loss for the financial year  (34,696)  (33,848)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company  (34,519)  (33,848)

Minority interests  (177)  - 

 (34,696)  (33,848)

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year, other than as disclosed in the 
financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were 
not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature except for the effect arising from 
the settlement reached with the State of Madagascar as detailed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Low Teik Kien
Tan Sri Dato’ Kamaruzzaman bin Shariff	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)
Donatian Felix Dorairaj	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)
Yusob bin Md. Tasir	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)
Haji Slamat bin Hamzah	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)
Chow Seck Kai	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010)
Dato’ Ramli bin Yusuff	 (Appointed on 28 April 2010)
Hew Thin Chay	 (Appointed on 17 March 2010 and resigned on 22 April 2010)
Mohd Shahril bin Tan Sri Hamzah	 (Appointed on 31 July 2009 and removed on 17 March 2010)
Foo Ton Hin	 (Appointed on 31 July 2009 and removed on 17 March 2010)
Lim Ching Choy	 (Appointed on 1 June 2009 and removed on 17 March 2010)
Dato’ Liew Lee Leong	 (Resigned on 23 February 2010)
Low Kim Leng	 (Resigned on 8 July 2009)
Faris Najhan bin Hashim	 (Resigned on 29 July 2009)
Lai Moo Chan	 (Removed on 17 March 2010)
Datuk Lye Ek Seang	 (Removed on 17 March 2010)
Long Md Nor Amran bin Long Ibrahim	 (Removed on 17 March 2010)
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir	 (Resigned on 25 June 2009)
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Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Directors’ benefits

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the 
Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company or 
any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than 
benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary 
of a full-time employee of the Company as shown in Note 10 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the 
Company or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which the director is a member or with a company in which 
the director has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements.			 
						    
Directors’ interests
							     
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares 
in the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each

 At At

1 January 2009  Acquired  Sold  31 December 2009

The Company

Direct interest

Low Teik Kien 698,700  -  - 698,700

Lim Ching Choy -  200,000  - 200,000

Lai Moo Chan 1,017,522  -  (446,508) 571,014

Indirect interest

Low Teik Kien 25,162,629  -  - 25,162,629

Datuk Lye Ek Seang 28,506,326  -  - 28,506,326
			 
Low Teik Kien’s indirect interests in shares in the Company is held through Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd and Executors of Estate 
of Low Chee.

Low Teik Kien by virtue of his interest in shares in the Company is also deemed interested in shares of all the Company’s 
subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest.

Datuk Lye Ek Seang’s indirect interests in shares in the Company is held through his spouse Datin Viannie Damit @ Undikai’s 
substantial shareholdings in Extreme System Sdn Bhd (“ESSB”).

Datuk Lye Ek Seang and Low Teik Kien by virtue of their interest in shares in the Company are also deemed interested in shares 
in all the Company’s subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest.

None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related 
corporations during the financial year.
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Other statutory information

(a)	B efore the income statements and balance sheets of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took 
reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that adequate allowance had 
been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in 
the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b)	A t the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i)	 it necessary to write off any bad debts or the amount of allowance for doubtful debts inadequate to any substantial 
extent in respect of these financial statements; and

(ii)	 the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c)	A t the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate.

(d)	A t the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

(e)	A s at the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liabilities of any other person except as disclosed in the financial statements; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.		

(f)	I n the opinion of the directors:

(i)	 except as disclosed in Note 36 and Note 39 to the financial statements, no contingent or other liability has become 
enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year 
which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due; 
and

(ii)	 except as disclosed in the financial statements, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature 
has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect 
substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report 
is made.

Directors’ Report (cont’d)
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Significant and subsequent events

The Directors wish to bring your attention to the significant and subsequent events during the financial year are as disclosed 
in Note 38 to the financial statements.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, do not wish to seek re-appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 3 May 2010.

Chow Seck Kai			   Donatian Felix Dorairaj

Directors’ Report (cont’d)
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Statement by Directors 

Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, Chow Seck Kai and Donatian Felix Dorairaj, being two of the directors of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad, do hereby 
state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 45 to 128 are drawn up in 
accordance with applicable Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 and of the results and the cash flows 
of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended. 

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 3 May 2010. 

Chow Seck Kai								        Donatian Felix Dorairaj 

I, Ivan Oh Boon Wee, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Ho Hup Construction Company 
Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 45 to 128 are in 
my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the 
provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960. 

Subscribed and solemnly declared 
by the abovenamed Ivan Oh Boon Wee
at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory
on 3 May 2010.								        Ivan Oh Boon Wee

Before me,
R Vasugi Ammal (No. W480)
Commissioner for Oaths

Statutory Declaration 

Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad, which comprise the balance sheets as at 
31 December 2009 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity and cash 
flow statements of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 45 to 128. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with applicable Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965. 
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on conducting the audit in accordance with 
approved standards of auditing in Malaysia.  Because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph, 
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

1.	D uring the financial year ended 31 December 2004, the Company was awarded certain construction contracts by the 
State of Madagascar. These construction contracts were terminated during the financial year ended 31 December 2006.

	A s disclosed in Note 39 (v) to the financial statements, on 14 September 2006, the Company commenced an arbitration 
claim to recover damages it sustained as a result of the unlawful contract termination and of the seizure of its equipment 
and material by the State of Madagascar following the termination. The claim was referred to the International Court of 
Arbitration under the Rules of the International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”), Paris.

	O n 25 July 2008, a Secured Bank Guarantee amounting to USD13,273,849 (equivalent to RM43,406,029) was paid by 
the Guarantor Bank to the State of Madagascar. During the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Group and 
the Company recognised this liability with the corresponding RM8,933,563 and RM34,472,466 taken to the income 
statement and against the advance from Government of Madagascar respectively. In view of lack of relevant available 
information, we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the amount charged to the income statement of the 
Group and of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 were appropriate.

	O n 21 May 2009, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the State of Madagascar. The Settlement 
Agreement includes, amongst others, an agreement by the Company and the Government of Madagascar to renounce 
their debts towards and claims against each other and bear their own legal cost and expenses arising out of this settlement. 
As a result of the Settlement Agreement, an amount of approximately RM23,310,000, as detailed in Note 23(c) to the 
financial statements, was charged to the income statements of the Group and of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2009.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad	 (cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (cont’d)

	I n addition, import duties may be payable to the relevant authorities in Madagascar on the machineries that were 
previously sent to Madagascar for the said construction project. However, the aforementioned Settlement Agreement  
the states that State of Madagascar agrees to assist in providing or exempting all necessary documentation or permit the 
lawful usage or export of the machineries from Madagascar upon release of the machineries to the Company. As at 31 
December 2009, no liability and the corresponding expense have been recognised in respect of these import duties and 
we are unable to ascertain the extent of import duties payable and expense, if any.   

2.	 (i)	A s at 31 December 2009, the Group and the Company reported net losses of RM34.70 million (2008: RM56.16 
million) and RM33.85 million (2008: RM68.65 million) respectively. As of that date, the Group’s current liabilities 
exceeded its current assets by RM172.48 million (2008: RM132.52 million). The Group’s shareholders’ deficit as at 
31 December 2009 amounted to RM15.68 million.

(ii)	A s disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements, the Group and the Company have defaulted in the repayment 
of certain bank borrowings as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 and certain creditors have also filed 
Section 218 Notices against the Company and certain of its subsidiaries during the current and previous year ended 
31 December 2009 and 2008.

(iii)	A s disclosed in Note 38(d) to the financial statements, on 16 March 2010, Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”) 
entered into a Joint Development Agreement (“JDA”) with Pioneer Haven Sdn Bhd (“PHSB”) to develop a parcel of 
land measuring approximately 60 acres (“the 60 acre land”)  belonging to BJD into a mixed development project. 
The present Board of Directors appointed on 17 March 2010, has filed a suit to declare the JDA void. Consequently, 
the economic benefits from the development of the 60 acre land may not accrue to the Group and BJD until the 
determination of the said legal action.

	A s disclosed in Note 34(e) to the financial statements, during the period from December 2009 to January 2010, BJD 
had collected booking fees/deposits of approximately RM9.26 million from potential purchasers of shop offices to 
be developed on the 60 acre land. Certain purchasers have requested for the refund of their booking fees/deposits. 
As at the date of this report, BJD has not made any refund of these booking fees/deposits.

(iv)	T he Company’s subsidiary, Tru-mix Concrete Sdn Bhd (“TCSB”) incurred a net loss of RM1,776,034 during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2009. In addition, TCSB suffered loss of key management personnel and shut 
down a few plants during the current financial year ended 31 December 2009 due to completion of projects.

	T hese are indications that TCSB’s assets may be impaired. As required by FRS 136 Impairment of Assets, the Group 
and TCSB should estimate the recoverable amount of TCSB’s assets when there is an indication of impairment. 
The directors did not perform such estimation of recoverable amount as at 31 December 2009. In addition, the 
aforementioned indications may also cast significant doubt as to the ability of TCSB to continue as a going concern.

	T he factors set forth above indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the ability 
of the Group and of the Company to continue as going concerns and therefore, they may be unable to realise their assets 
and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business. 
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	A s disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared 
on a going concern basis. The ability of the Group and of the Company to continue as going concerns is dependent upon 
the successful and timely formulation and implementation of a regularisation plan and negotiation with the relevant bank 
to restructure their bank borrowings which are currently in default. The present Board of Directors are in the process of 
formulating such a plan. 

	T he financial statements of the Group and of the Company do not include any adjustment and classification relating to the 
recorded assets and liabilities that may be necessary should the Group and the Company be unable to continue as going 
concerns.

3.	A s disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements, the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2009 and 31 December 2008 of certain subsidiaries were not available. For the financial year ended 31 December 2008, 
the audited financial statements of the Madagascar branch operations were also not made available to us. Accordingly the 
management financial information of these entities were used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008. 

	T he audited financial statements of the Madagascar branch operations for the year ended 31 December 2009 were made 
available to us for consolidation in the current financial year. However, the corresponding figures were not audited. In 
addition, in the preparation of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009, 
the Madagascar branch operations recognised a foreign exchange gain of RM3.88 million. Owing to the limitation placed 
on our work, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the appropriateness of the amount recognised.

	 We are also unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the financial statements and information of the aforementioned 
subsidiaries and the foreign branch operations that have been consolidated with the financial statements of the Company 
for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 are in form and content appropriate and proper for the 
purposes of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 31 
December 2008 and we have not received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

4.	A s at 31 December 2007, the share of net assets of the Group and of the Company’s associated company, Shanghai San 
Ho Hup Pile Co Ltd were below its carrying amount of RM10.25 million and RM10.31 million respectively. In our opinion, 
this is an indication that the investment in the associated company may be impaired. As required by FRS 136 Impairment 
of Assets, the Group and the Company should estimate the recoverable amount of this investment when there is an 
indication of impairment. The directors did not perform such estimation of recoverable amount as at 31 December 2007. 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2008, this investment was fully impaired. In our opinion, such impairment 
loss should be recognised in the income statements of the Group and of the Company for the year ended 31 December 
2007. Accordingly, the losses of the Group and of the Company for the corresponding year ended 31 December 2008 
were overstated by RM10.25 million and RM10.31 million respectively. 

5.	I n addition to the above matters, we were not able to confirm or verify by alternative audit procedures the following 
matters due to the limitations placed on the scope of our work:

(i)	 For the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, we were not able to obtain confirmations 
from the respective solicitors of the Group and of the Company on the status of the litigations as disclosed in Note 
39 to the financial statements and accordingly we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the nature, quantum, and 
completeness of the said litigations;

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad	 (cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (cont’d)

(ii)	D uring the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Company incurred the cost of materials and services 
amounting to RM1.025 million for rectification works undertaken for developments which were previously abandoned 
but completed during the year. We were not able to sight certain original copies of the purchase orders issued and 
we were unable to procure confirmations or explanations from the sub-contractors. As such, we are unable to satisfy 
ourselves on the quantum and the costs incurred in respect of these rectification works.

(iii)	A t the date of this report, we have not received approved budgets in respect of the construction works for certain 
on-going construction projects of the Company. These budgets were not approved by the previous Board of Directors 
prior to their removal on 17 March 2010. In the absence of a budget approved by the Board of Directors, we are 
unable to ascertain the appropriateness of the profits or losses recognised in the income statements of the Group 
and of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009 using the percentage of completion method and the 
amounts recognised as due from/to customers in the balance sheets of the Group and of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2009. 

(iv)	A s at the date of this report, replies relating to certain debtors and creditors confirmation requests amounting to 
RM37,735,620 and RM23,996,059 respectively are outstanding. We are unable to confirm or verify by alternative 
means as to whether the carrying amounts of the debtors and creditors balances for the financial year ended 31 
December 2009 were appropriate.

(v)	I ncluded in other receivables as at 31 December 2009 of the Group and of the Company is an amount of approximately 
RM14.794 million which represents amounts due from various sub-contractor debtors. These debts arose from 
back charges of materials purchased on behalf of the sub-contractor by the Company for its projects.  The amount 
outstanding is to be matched against the delivery order (“DO”) and invoices for materials purchased on behalf and 
subsequently reversed to the work in progress account as it is part of project related costs. As at 31 December 2009, 
the matching of the DOs and invoices against the amount outstanding is still in progress. As such, we are not able 
to assess the amount of debts which are recoverable, the carrying amounts of the construction work-in-progress 
account and accordingly, the costs to be recognised in the income statement.

(vi)	 For the financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, the replies relating to certain bank 
confirmations requests to confirm the bank balances of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 
were outstanding. We were unable to confirm or verify by alternative means as to the completeness of the recorded 
bank balances of the Group and of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the related disclosures 
pertaining to these banks.

(vii)	 We are required by Malaysian Approved Standards on Auditing, ISA 560 Subsequent Events, to perform audit 
procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that all events up to the date of the auditor’s report that 
may require adjustment of, or disclosure in, the financial statements have been identified. However, we have not 
been able to complete the performance of such procedures as certain minutes of Board of Directors’ meetings of 
BJD for period subsequent to 31 December 2009 were not made available to us.

	A s a result of the above matters, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments or disclosures are required, if 
any, on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company. 
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6.	O ur auditors’ report on the financial statements ended 31 December 2008 included a disclaimer of opinion and the 
matters which gave rise to the modification include matters as explained in paragraphs 1 to 5  in the Basis for Disclaimer 
of Opinion paragraphs in so far as it relates to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008.  These 
matters remained unresolved in the current financial year.

Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we do not express an 
opinion on these financial statements.

Other Matters

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) 	I n our opinion, except for matters described in paragraphs 1 to 6 in the Basis of Disclaimer Opinion above, the accounting 
and other records  and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries of which we have 
acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) 	 We are unable to consider the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not 
acted as auditors, being financial statements that have been included in the consolidated financial statements as the 
financial statements of these subsidiaries have not been audited as at the date of this report. 

(c) 	B ecause of the significance of the matters discussed in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we are unable 
to comment as to whether the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial 
statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements and we have not received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for 
those purposes.

(d) 	E xcept for TCSB, the auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries which have been audited were not 
subject to any qualification and did not include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies 
Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this 
report.

Ernst & Young							L       ow Khung Leong
AF: 0039								N        o.2697/01/11(J)
Chartered Accountants							C       hartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
3 May 2010

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad	 (cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008 

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Revenue 6 80,149 91,183 37,590  35,717 

Cost of sales 7 (65,530) (70,812) (37,674) (40,813)

Gross profit/(loss) 14,619 20,371 (84) (5,096)

Other income 8(a) 14,582 4,399 16,842 23,626 

Administrative expenses 8(b) (29,490) (9,258) (25,999) (6,527)

Operating expenses 8(b) (27,382) (65,267) (18,970) (76,308)

Loss from operations 8 (27,671) (49,755) (28,211) (64,305)

Finance costs 12 (5,695) (6,515) (5,637) (4,341)

Share of result of associates 20 (21) 351 - -

Loss before tax (33,387) (55,919) (33,848) (68,646)

Income tax expense 13 (1,309) (244) - (2)

Loss for the financial year (34,696) (56,163) (33,848) (68,648)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (34,519) (56,074) (33,848) (68,648)

Minority interests (177) (89) - -

(34,696) (56,163) (33,848) (68,648)

Loss per share attributable to equity 

  holders of the Company

Basic loss per share (sen) 14 (33.8) (55.0)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008 

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15  22,790  30,397  21,134  28,993 

Investment properties 16  -  1,712  -  1,712 

Prepaid land lease payments 17  220  227  220  227 

Land held for property development 18(a)  120,874  120,264  -  - 

Investment in subsidiaries 19  -  -  15,747  15,747 

Investment in associates 20  16  -  37  - 

Investment in jointly controlled entities 21  -  -  -  -

 143,900  152,600  37,138 46,679

Current assets

Property development costs 18(b) 2,125 31,051  -  - 

Inventories 22 527 806  130  - 

Trade receivables 23 32,295 61,150 19,208 37,530 

Other receivables 24 29,320 33,494 191,538 204,946 

Cash and bank balances 26 17,211 10,582 4,942 9,282

81,478 137,083 215,818 251,758 

Non-current assets held for sale 27  19,066  -  -  -

 100,544  137,083  215,818  251,758

Total assets 244,444 289,683 252,956 298,437

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008 

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to equity

  holders of the Company

Share capital 28 102,000 102,000 102,000 102,000 

Reserves (117,679) (83,231) (48,919) (15,071)

(Equity shortfall)/shareholders’ equity (15,679) 18,769 53,081 86,929 

Minority interests 1,093 1,270  -  -

Total equity (14,586) 20,039 53,081 86,929

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 32  35  42  -  - 

Borrowings 30  5,037  -  5,037  -

 5,072  42  5,037  - 

Current liabilities

Provision for liquidated ascertained

  damages 29  19,907  23,054  -  - 

Borrowings 30  95,247  104,515  74,739  80,155 

Trade payables 33  76,926  83,924  66,275  71,173 

Other payables 34  52,593  50,082  47,726  54,082 

Tax payable 35  9,285  8,027  6,098  6,098 

 253,958  269,602  194,838  211,508 

Total liabilities  259,030  269,644  199,875  211,508 

Total equity and liabilities  244,444  289,683  252,956  298,437 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Non distributable

 Share foreign exchange Accumulated  Minority  Total 

 capital  reserve  losses  Total  interests  equity 

 RM'000  RM'000  RM'000  RM'000  RM'000  RM'000 

Group

At 1 January 2008  102,000  5,236  (31,766)  75,470  1,859  77,329 

Loss for the year  -  -  (56,074)  (56,074)  (89)  (56,163)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders  -  -  -  -  (500)  (500)

Exchange difference on translation

  of net assets of foreign subsidiaries  -  (627)  -  (627)  -  (627)

At 31 December 2008  102,000  4,609  (87,840)  18,769  1,270  20,039

At 1 January 2009  102,000  4,609  (87,840)  18,769  1,270  20,039 

Loss for the year  -  -  (34,519)  (34,519)  (177)  (34,696)

Exchange difference on translation

  of net assets of foreign subsidiaries  -  71  -  71  -  71

At 31 December 2009  102,000  4,680  (122,359)  (15,679)  1,093  (14,586)

Share Accumulated  Total 

 capital  losses  equity 

 RM'000  RM'000  RM'000 

Company

At 1 January 2008  102,000  53,577  155,577 

Loss for the year  -  (68,648)  (68,648)

At 31 December 2008  102,000  (15,071)  86,929 

At 1 January 2009  102,000  (15,071)  86,929 

Loss for the year  -  (33,848)  (33,848)

At 31 December 2009  102,000  (48,919)  53,081 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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2009 2008 

RM’000 RM’000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax  (33,387)  (55,919)

Adjustments for:

Bad debts written off  -  565 

Allowance for doubtful debts  13,509  6,258 

Bad debt recovered  (20)  - 

Write back of allowance for doubtful debts

- other receivables  -  (181)

Impairment of investment in associates  -  10,873 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  5,002  5,463 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (673)  (2,005)

Property, plant and equipment written off  1,240  - 

Gain on disposal of investment properties  (5,488)  - 

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  7  7 

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  2,500  - 

Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (4,489)  3,597 

Provision for liquidated ascertained damages  -  4,602 

Provision for foreseeable losses  -  2,931 

Interest income  (300)  (565)

Interest expense  5,695  6,515 

Share of results of associates  21  (351)

Operating loss before working capital changes  (16,383)  (18,210)

Property development costs  11,064  (1,950)

Inventories  (362)  79 

Receivables  26,740  10,191 

Payables  (6,321)  (23,164)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations  14,738  (33,054)

 Tax paid  (51)  (1,357)

Interest paid  (7,509)  (6,515)

Payments of provision for liquidated ascertained damages  (3,142)  (83)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  4,036  (41,009)
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2009 2008 

RM’000 RM’000 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (691)  (331)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  870  2,449 

Acquisition of associates  (37)  - 

Deposits received for disposal of land held for sale  6,321  1,462 

Interest received  300  565 

Net cash generated from investing activities  6,763  4,145 

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of hire purchase financing  (542)  (1,778)

Net (repayment)/drawdown on borrowings  (1,841)  46,107 

Dividend paid to minority interests of a subsidiary  -  (500)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities  (2,383)  43,829 

Net increase in cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts  8,416  6,965 

Effects of exchange rate changes  61  (620)

Cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts at beginning of financial year  2,985  (3,360)

Cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts at end of financial year  11,462  2,985 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents restricted from use by the Company (Note 26)  (3,804)  (8,584)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year (Note 26)  7,658  (5,599)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009

2009 2008 

RM’000 RM’000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax  (33,848)  (68,646)

Adjustments for:

Bad debts written off  -  565 

Allowance for doubtful debts

- subsidiaries  -  3,220 

- trade receivables  13,350  6,258 

Write back of allowance for doubtful debts

- subsidiaries  -  (12,327)

- other receivables  -  (181)

Impairment of investment in 

- subsidiaries  -  24,755 

- associates  -  10,549 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  4,400  4,870 

Property, plant and equipment written off  1,240  - 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (619)  (2,756)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  2,500  - 

Gain on disposal of investment properties  (5,488)  - 

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  7  7 

Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (4,489)  3,597 

Dividend income  -  (4,500)

Interest income  (3,050)  (3,216)

Interest expense  5,637  4,341 

Operating loss before working capital changes  (20,360)  (33,464)

Changes in working capital:

Inventories  (130)  - 

Receivables  25,580  15,765 

Payables  (6,765)  (22,703)

Cash used in operations  (1,675)  (40,402)

Tax paid  -  (502)

Interest paid  (5,637)  (4,341)

Net cash used in operating activities  (7,312)  (45,245)
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for the year ended 31 December 2009 (cont’d)

2009 2008 

RM’000 RM’000 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (569)  (3)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  907  3,160 

Acquisition of associates  (37)  - 

Dividend income received  -  4,500 

Interest received  3,050  209 

Net cash generated from investing activities  3,351  7,866 

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of hire purchase financing  (415)  (1,661)

Net drawdown on borrowings  1,352  46,115 

Net cash generated from financing activities  937  44,454 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts (3,024) 7,075

Cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts at beginning of financial year  5,052  (2,023)

Cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts at end of financial year 2,028 5,052

Less: Cash and cash equivalents restricted from use by the Company (Note 26)  (2,444)  (8,251)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year (Note 26) (416) (3,199)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009

1.	C orporate information

	T he principal activities of the Company consist of foundation engineering, civil engineering, building contracting works 
and hire of plant and machinery. The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are 
disclosed inNote 19, 20 and 21 respectively. There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities 
during the financial year.

	T he Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market 
of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located 
at No.18, Jalan 17/155C, Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur.

	T he financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 3 May 2010.

	P ursuant to the amendments to the Listing Requirements (“LR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”) in relation to Practice Note No. 17/2005 (“Amended PN17”) the Company on 31 July 2008 announced (“First 
Announcement”) that the Company is deemed an Affected Listed issuer as defined in the Amended PN17 as the auditors 
have expressed a disclaimer opinion on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 and 
2008.

	A s an Affected Listed Issuer, the Company is required pursuant to paragraph 3.1(a)(ii) of the Amended PN17 to comply 
with the following obligations:

(a)	 to announce details of the Regularisation Plan as referred to in paragraph 8.14C(3) of the Listing Requirements which 
announcement must fulfill the requirements set out in paragraph 3.1A of the Amended PN 17/2005;

(b)	 to submit the Regularisation Plan to the Securities Commission, and other relevant authorities (“Approving Authority”), 
for approval within eight (8) months from the date of the First Announcement; and to implement the Regularisation 
Plan within the timeframe stipulated by the relevant Approving Authority;

(c)	 to announce the status of its plan to regularise its condition and the number of months to the end of the relevant 
timeframes referred thereto, as may be applicable on a monthly basis until further notice from Bursa Securities; 
and

(d)	 to announce its compliance or non-compliance with a particular obligation imposed pursuant to Amended PN17/2005 
on an immediate basis.

	I n the event that the Company fails to comply with the obligation to regularise its condition, all of its listed securities shall 
be suspended from trading on the 5th market day after the Submission Timeframe or Implementation Timeframe, as the 
case may be, and de-listing procedures shall be taken against the Company by Bursa Securities.

	O n 30 March 2010, the Company had announced that it had submitted an application to Bursa Securities for a further 
extension of time of four (4) months up to 4 August 2010 to submit its revised regularisation plan to the relevant authorities 
pursuant to the provisions of PN 17 of Bursa Securities Listing Requirements. In this regard, the Company had on 14 
April 2010 announced that Bursa Securities had granted an extension of time of four (4) months i.e. from 4 April 2010 to 
4 August 2010 to submit the Company’s revised regularisation plan to Bursa Securities for approval.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

2.	B asis of preparation

	T he financial statements comply with Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

	T he financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention 
unless otherwise indicated. The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise stated.

	T he financial statements indicated that the Group and the Company incurred net losses of RM34.70 million and RM33.85 
million respectively during the year ended 31 December 2009 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded 
its current assets by RM172.48 million. The financial statements further disclosed that the Company have negative 
operating cash flows of RM7.31 million for the year ended 31 December 2009. In addition, as disclosed in Note 30, the 
Group and the Company have defaulted on its repayment obligations relating to certain bank borrowings.

	T hese factors indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group 
and of the Company to continue as going concerns and therefore they maybe unable to realise their assets and discharge 
their liabilities in the normal course of business.

	T he appropriateness of preparing the financial statements on a going concern basis is dependent on the successful 
implementation of the Group’s regularisation plan, the resumption of normal operations and return to profitability of 
the Group and of the Company. The directors’ would also need to formulate a plan to address the default in repayment 
obligations in relation to bank borrowings. The Group is to present its regularisation plan by 4 August 2010 to Bursa 
Securities.

	S hould the going concern basis of preparing the financial statements be no longer appropriate, adjustments would have 
to be made to reduce the value of all assets to their estimated realisablevalues, and to provide further estimated liabilities 
that may arise, and to reclassify property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets and non-current liabilities as 
current assets and current liabilities respectively.

	T he financial statements of the Group and of the Company do not include any adjustments and classifications relating to 
the recorded assets and liabilities that may be necessary if the Group and the Company are unable to continue as going 
concerns.

3.	S ignificant accounting policies

(a)	S ubsidiaries and basis of consolidation

(i)	S ubsidiaries

	S ubsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the ability to control the financial and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group has such power over another 
entity.

	I n the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their 
carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)	S ubsidiaries and basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(ii)	B asis of consolidation

	T he consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
as at the balance sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting 
date as the Company.

	S ubsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, intragroup balances, transactions and unrealised gains or losses are eliminated in full. Uniform 
accounting policies are adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances.

	A cquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. The purchase method of accounting 
involves allocating the cost of the acquisition to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

	A ny excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

	M inority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group. It 
is measured at the minorities’ share of the fair value of the subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the 
acquisition date and the minorities’ share of changes in the subsidiaries’ equity since then.

(iii)	A ssociates

	A ssociates are entities in which the Group exercises significant influence but not control. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not in control or joint 
control over those policies.

	I nvestment in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the investment in associate is carried in the consolidated 
balance sheet at cost adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. 
The Group’s share of the net profit or loss of associates during the financial year is included in the consolidated 
income statement. Where there has been a change recognised directly in equity of the associates, the Group 
recognises its share of such changes.

	U nrealised gains on transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)	S ubsidiaries and basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(iii)	A ssociates (cont’d)

	A fter application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any 
additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associates. The associates are 
equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the Group ceases to 
have significant influence over the associate, or when it is classified as held for sale.

	 Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over the cost of investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead 
included in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

	 When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in associate, including any long-
term interest that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate, the Group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

	T he most recent available audited or management financial statements of the associate are used by the Group 
in applying the equity method. Uniform accounting policies are adopted for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances.

(iv)	 Jointly controlled entities

	A  jointly controlled entity is an entity in which the Group has joint control over its economic activity established 
under a contractual arrangement.

	I nterest in jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting as described in Note 3(a)(iii).

(b)	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

	P roperty, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

	S ubsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

	 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)

	D epreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of 
each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual rates:

	B uildings	 2%
	R enovation	 10%
	M otor vehicles	 20%
	P lant and machinery	 5% - 10%
	O thers	 10% - 20%

	T he residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure that 
the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

	A n item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the net carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

(c)	I nvestment properties

	I nvestment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 
both. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

	D epreciation of buildings classified as investment properties is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the 
cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at an annual rate of 2%.

	T he residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of investment properties are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each financial year end.

	I nvestment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement in the year 
of retirement or disposal.

(d)	I nvestments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities

	T he Company’s investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

	O n disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is 
recognised in the income statement.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)	I mpairment of non-financial assets

	T he carrying amounts of assets, other than construction contract assets, property development costs, inventories, 
deferred tax assets and non-current assets held for sale, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

	 For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset 
basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this 
is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs to. 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs, or 
groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

	A n asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

	A n impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises. An impairment loss for an asset 
other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other 
than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised 
in profit or loss.

(f)	L and held for property development and property development costs

(i)	L and held for property development

	 Land held for property development consists of land where no development activities have been carried out or 
where development activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle. Such land is 
classified within non-current assets and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

	 Land held for property development is reclassified as property development costs at the point when development 
activities have commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development activities can be completed 
within the normal operating cycle.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f)	L and held for property development and property development costs (cont’d)

(ii)	 Property development costs

	P roperty development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to development activities or that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.

	 When the financial outcome of a development activity can be reliably estimated, property development revenue 
and expenses are recognised in the income statement by using the stage of completion method. The stage of 
completion is determined by the proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed to 
date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

	 Where the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be 
recoverable, and property development costs on properties sold are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.

	A ny expected loss on a development project is recognised as an expense immediately.

	P roperty development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset, which is measured at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

	T he excess of revenue recognised in the income statement over billings to purchasers is classified as accrued 
billings within trade receivables and the excess of billings to purchasers over revenue recognised in the income 
statement is classified as progress billings within trade payables.

(g)	C onstruction contracts

	 Where the outcome of a construction contract can be reliably estimated, contract revenue and contract costs are 
recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion 
is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date to the estimated 
total contract costs.

	 Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract revenue is recognised to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses 
in the period in which they are incurred.

	 When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as 
an expense immediately.

	 When the total of costs incurred on construction contracts plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceeds 
progress billings, the balance is classified as amount due from customers on contracts. When progress billings 
exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is classified as amount due to 
customers on contracts.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h)	I nventories

	I nventories which represent construction materials and unsold property are stated at the lower of cost (determined 
on the first-in, first-out basis) and net realisable value. The cost of unsold property comprises cost associated with 
the acquisition of land, direct costs and appropriate proportions of common costs.

	N et realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.

(i)	F inancial instruments

	 Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has become a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

	 Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. Interest, dividends and gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are 
reported as expense or income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are recognised 
directly in equity. Financial instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends to settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(i)	C ash and cash equivalents

	 For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks 
and deposits at call which have an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(ii)	O ther non-current investments

	N on-current investments other than investments in subsidiaries, associates, jointly controlled entities and 
investment properties are stated at cost less impairment losses. On disposal of an investment, the difference 
between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in the income statement.

(iii)	T rade and other receivables

	T rade and other receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off when identified. 
An estimate is made for doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts as at the balance sheet 
date.

(iv)	T rade and other payables

	T rade and other payables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future 
for goods and services received.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(i)	F inancial instruments (cont’d)

(v)	I nterest-bearing loans and borrowings

	A ll loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(vi)	E quity instruments

	O rdinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in 
which they are declared.

	T he transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax. Equity 
transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction 
which would otherwise have been avoided.

(j)	B orrowing costs

	B orrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

	I nvestment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

	A ll other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(k)	L eases

(i)	C lassification

	A  lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Group all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Leases of land and buildings are classified as operating or finance leases in the same 
way as leases of other assets and the land and buildings elements of a lease of land and buildings are considered 
separately for the purposes of lease classification. All leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards are classified as operating leases.

(ii)	F inance leases - the Group as Lessee

	A ssets acquired by way of hire purchase or finance leases are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair 
values and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the leases, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. The corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as borrowings. 
In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the discount factor used is the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, when it is practicable to determine; otherwise, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate 
is used. Any initial direct costs are also added to the carrying amount of such assets.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k)	L eases (cont’d)

(ii)	F inance leases - the Group as Lessee (cont’d)

	 Lease payments are apportioned between the finance costs and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of 
the assets acquired, are recognised in the profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

	T he depreciation policy for leased assets is in accordance with that for depreciable property, plant and 
equipment.

(iii)	O perating leases - the Group as Lessee

	O perating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

	I n the case of a lease of land and buildings, the minimum lease payments or the up-front payments made are 
allocated, whenever necessary, between the land and the buildings elements in proportion to the relative fair 
values for leasehold interests in the land element and buildings element of the lease at the inception of the 
lease. The up-front payment represents prepaid lease payments and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term, which is 50 years.

(l)	I ncome tax

	I ncome tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount 
of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have 
been enacted at the balance sheet date.

	D eferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. In principle, deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, unutilised tax losses and unutilised tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unutilised tax losses and unutilised tax 
credits can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or negative 
goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

	D eferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
Deferred tax is recognised in the income statement, except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised 
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or when it arises from a 
business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred tax is included in the resulting goodwill or the 
amount of any excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of the combination.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m)	 Provisions for liabilities

	P rovisions for liabilities are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risk specific to the liability. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

(n)	E mployee benefits

(i)	S hort-term benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase 
their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short-term non-accumulating compensated absences such 
as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(ii)	 Defined contribution plans

	D efined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contribution 
into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if 
any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in the 
current and preceding financial years.

	A s required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the EPF. Such contributions are recognised as 
an expense in the income statement as incurred.

(o)	F oreign currencies

(i)	F unctional and presentation currency

	T he individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the Company’s functional currency.

(ii)	F oreign currency transactions

	I n preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded in the functional currencies using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not translated.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(o)	F oreign currencies (cont’d)

(ii)	F oreign currency transactions (cont’d)

	E xchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, 
are included in the profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that 
form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operation.

	T hese are initially taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve within equity until the disposal of the 
foreign operations, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss. Exchange differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of the Company’s net investment in foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in 
the Company’s separate financial statements or the individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as 
appropriate.

	E xchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit 
or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of 
which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary 
items are also recognised directly in equity.

(iii)	F oreign operations

	T he results and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency (RM) of the consolidated financial statements are translated into RM as follows:

(a) 	A ssets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate prevailing at the 
balance sheet date;

(b) 	I ncome and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year, 
which approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and

(c) 	A ll resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

	 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations on or after 1 January 2006 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the 
foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date.

(p)	R evenue recognition

	R evenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to 
the enterprise and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

(i)	C onstruction contracts

	R evenue from construction contracts is accounted for by the stage of completion method. 



65	 ho hup construction company berhad (14034-W)

	 2009 Annual Report

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p)	R evenue recognition (cont’d)

(ii)	S ale of development properties

	R evenue from sale of development properties is accounted for by the percentage of completion method.

(iii)	S ale of goods

	R evenue relating to sale of goods is recognised net of sales taxes and discounts upon the transfer of risks and 
rewards.

(iv)	H ire of plant and machinery

	R evenue from hire of plant and machinery is recognised over the term of lease.

(q)	N on-current assets held for sale

	N on-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly 
probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual 
and customary.  

	I mmediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets is brought up-to-date 
in accordance with applicable FRSs. Then, on initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets are measured 
in accordance with FRS 5 that is at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Any differences are 
included in profit or loss.

4. 	S tandards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

	A t the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new FRSs and Interpretations, and amendments 
to certain Standards and Interpretations were issued but not yet effective and have not been applied by the Group and by 
the Company, which are: 

4.1	FRS s, Amendments to FRSs and Interpretations

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009:

FRS 8 Operating Segments

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010:

FRS 4 Insurance Contracts

FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)
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4. 	S tandards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

4.1	FRS s, Amendments to FRSs and Interpretations (cont’d) 

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010: (cont’d)

FRS 123 Borrowings Costs

FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 127 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and Consolidated 
   and Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary 
   Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment - Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Amendment to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Amendment to FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendment to FRS 8 Operating Segments

Amendment to FRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows

Amendment to FRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

Amendment to FRS 110 Events after the Reporting Period

Amendment to FRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendment to FRS 117 Leases

Amendment to FRS 118 Revenue

Amendment to FRS 119 Employee Benefits

Amendment to FRS 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
   Assistance

Amendment to FRS 123 Borrowings Costs

Amendment to FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements:

Amendment to FRS 128 Investments in Associates

Amendment to FRS 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

Amendment to FRS 131 Interests in Joint Ventures

Amendment to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation

Amendment to FRS 134 Interim Financial Reporting

Amendment to FRS 136 Impairment of Assets

Amendment to FRS 138 Intangible Assets

Amendments to FRS 139, FRS 7 and 
   IC Interpretation 9

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, Disclosures and 
   Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Amendment to FRS 140 Investment Property

IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IC Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IC Interpretation 11 FRS 2- Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IC Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

IC Interpretation 14 FRS 119 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
   Requirements and their Interaction
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4. 	S tandards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

4.1	FRS s, Amendments to FRSs and Interpretations (cont’d) 

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010:

FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards

FRS 3 Business Combinations (revised)

FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (amended)

Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment - Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Amendments to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets

Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

IC Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

IC Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

4.2	C hanges in accounting policies and future accounting standards

	T he Group and the Company plan to adopt the above pronouncements when they become effective in the respective 
financial period. Unless otherwise described below, these pronouncements are expected to have no significant 
impact to the financial statements of the Group and the Company upon their application.

4.2.1	FRS  101: Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)

	T he revised FRS 101 separates owner and non owner changes in equity. Therefore, the statement of 
changes in equity will now include only details of transactions with owners. All non-owner changes in 
equity are presented as a single line labelled as total comprehensive income. The Standard also introduces 
the statement of comprehensive income: presenting all items of income and expense recognised in the 
income statement, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single 
statement, or in two linked statements. In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an 
error or the reclassification of items in the financial statements. This revised FRS does not have any impact 
on the financial position and results of the Group and of the Company, except for changes in disclosures. 

4.2.2	FRS  123: Borrowing Costs (revised) 

	T he Group’s and the Company’s current accounting policy are consistent with the provision of FRS 123 
Borrowing Costs (revised). 
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4. 	S tandards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

4.2	C hanges in accounting policies and future accounting standards (cont’d) 

4.2.3	FRS  139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, FRS 7: Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures and amendments to FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures

	T he new Standard on FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement establishes 
principles for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy and 
sell non-financial items. Requirements for presenting information about financial instruments are in FRS 
132: Financial Instruments: Presentation and the requirements for disclosing information about financial 
instruments are in FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

	 FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures is a new Standard that required new disclosures in relation 
to financial instruments. The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures, both quantitative 
and qualitative of the Group’s and of the Company’s exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure regarding 
components of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial postion and performance, and possible changes 
to the way of presenting certain items in the financial statements.

	I n accordance with the respective transitional provisions, the Group and the Company is exempted from 
disclosing the possible impact to the financial statements upon the initial application.

4.2.4	A mendments to FRSs ‘Improvements to FRSs (2009)’

	 FRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that segment information with respect to total asset is required only 
if they are included in measures of segment profit or loss that are used by the „chief operating decision 
maker’.

	 FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies that financial instruments classified as held for trading 
in accordance with FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically 
presented as current in the balance sheet. The amendment further clarifies that the classification of the 
liability component of a convertible instrument as current or non-current is not affected by the terms that 
could, at the option of the holder, result in settlement of the liability by the issue of equity instruments.

	 FRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Clarifies that only 
	 implementation guidance that is an integral part of an FRS is mandatory when selecting accounting 
	 policies.

	 FRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment: The amendment replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair 
value less costs to sell”. It also clarifies that items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that 
are routinely sold in the ordinary course of business after rental, are transferred to inventory when rental 
ceases and they are held for sale.
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4. 	S tandards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

4.2	C hanges in accounting policies and future accounting standards (cont’d) 

4.2.4	A mendments to FRSs ‘Improvements to FRSs (2009)’ (cont’d)

	 FRS 117 Leases: Clarifies on the classification of leases of land and buildings. The Group and the Company 
is still assessing the potential implication as a result of the reclassification of its unexpired land leases 
as operating or finance leases. For those land element held under operating leases that are required to 
be reclassified as finance leases, the Group and the Company shall recognise a corresponding asset and 
liability in the financial statements which will be applied retrospectively upon initial application. However, 
in accordance with the transitional provision, the Group and the Company is permitted to reassess lease 
classification on the basis of the facts and circumstances existing on the date it adopts the amendments; 
and recognise the asset and liability related to a land lease newly classified as a finance lease at their fair 
values on that date; any difference between those fair values is recognised in retained earnings. The Group 
and the Company is currently in the process of assessing the impact of this amendment.

	 FRS 140 Investment Property: Property under construction or development for future use as an investment 
property is classified as investment property. Where the fair value model is applied, such property is 
measured at fair value. If fair value cannot be reliably determined, the investment under construction will 
be measured at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or construction is complete. The Group 
and the Company has previously accounted for such assets using the cost model. The amendment also 
includes changes in terminology in the Standard to be consistent with FRS 108. The change will be applied 
prospectively.

	 FRS 118 Revenue: The amendment provides additional guidance on whether an entity is acting as a 
principal or an agent. It also aligns the definition of costs incurred in originating a financial asset that should 
be deferred and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest by replacing the term „direct costs’ 
with „transaction costs’ as defined in FRS 139.

	 FRS 119 Employee Benefits: The amendment revises the definition of „past service costs’, „return on 
plan assets’ and „short term’ and „other long-term’ employee benefits. It clarifies that the costs of 
administering the plan may be either recognised in the rate of return on plan assets or included in the 
actuarial assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. The amendment further clarifies 
that amendment to plans that result in a reduction in benefits related to future services are curtailments. 
It also deleted the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with FRS 137 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

	 FRS 123 Borrowing Costs: The definition of borrowing costs is aligned with FRS 139 by referring to the use 
of effective interest rate as a component of borrowing cost.

4.2.5	IC  Interpretation 15: Agreements for the construction of real estate

	I n applying IFRIC 15, the Company is required to recognise the revenue from property development 
activities on a completion basis. The impact of IFRIC 15 cannot be reasonably estimated, due to the 
uncertainties surrounding the expectation of future sales and fluctuation of development cost.
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5.	S ignificant accounting judgements and estimates

	T he directors are required to make certain estimates, judgements and assumptions that they believe are reasonable based 
upon the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. 
On an ongoing basis, the Group evaluates its estimates using historical experience, consultation with experts and other 
methods considered reasonable in the particular circumstances. Actual results may differ significantly from the estimates, 
the effect of which is recognised in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become known.

	T he key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed as follows:

(a)	T rade and other receivables

	T he Group and the Company evaluate the collectibility of trade and other receivables and record allowance for 
doubtful debts based on historical collection pattern. These provisions are based, amongst other things, comparisons 
of the relative age of accounts and consideration of actual write-off history. The actual level of receivables collected 
may differ from the estimated levels of recovery, which could impact the operating results positively or negatively. 
Details of gross receivable and allowance for doubtful debts made are disclosed in Note 23 and 24 respectively.

(b)	 Depreciation of plant and machinery

	T he cost of plant and machinery is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ useful lives. Management 
estimates the useful lives of these plant and machinery to be between 10 and 20 years.

	C hanges in the expected level of usage could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these 
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

(c)	 Property development

	T he Group recognises property development revenue and expenses in the income statement using the stage of 
completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that property development costs 
incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated property development costs.

	S ignificant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of property development 
costs incurred, the estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the 
development projects. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past experience and by relying on 
the work of specialists. In previous financial year, the Group made provision for foreseeable losses amounting to 
RM2.93 million in respect of a property development project as disclosed in Note 18(b).

(d)	 Provision for liquidated ascertained damages

	P rovision for liquidated ascertained damages is recognised for expected liquidated ascertained damages claims 
based on the terms of the applicable sale and purchase agreements and is provided up to the estimated completion 
date of development projects. A delay in the estimated completion date of development projects will result in further 
liquidated ascertained damages of approximately RM367,000 per month.
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5.	S ignificant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

(e)	 Material litigations

	T he Group and the Company determine whether a present obligation in relation to a material litigation exists at the 
balance sheet date by taking into account all available evidence, including, the opinion of the solicitors. The evidence 
considered includes any additional evidence provided by events after the balance sheet date. On the basis of such 
evidence, the Group and the Company evaluate if a provision needs to be recognised in the financial statements. 
Further details of the material litigations involving the Group and the Company are given in Note 39.

(f)	I mpairment of assets

	T he Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount.

6.	R evenue

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Construction contracts 32,778 34,242 37,188 35,714

Sale of development properties 27,813 23,081 - -

Sale of goods 19,156 33,860 - -

Hire of plant and machinery 402 - 402 3

80,149 91,183 37,590 35,717

	S ale of development properties of the Group includes revenue from disposals of two parcels land by a subsidiary of 
RM15.5 million (2008: RM23.1 million) as disclosed in Note 38(a)(i) and (ii).
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7.	C ost of sales

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Construction contract costs 33,264 40,378 37,674 40,813

Property development costs (Note 18(b)) 18,273 5,418 - -

Cost of goods sold 13,993 25,016 - -

65,530 70,812 37,674 40,813

	I n the previous financial year, included in the property development costs of the Group is provision for foreseeable losses 
of RM2.93 million as disclosed in Note 18(b).

	I ncluded in the property development costs of the Group is the cost of land disposed of RM8.14 million.

8.	L oss from operations

	T he following amounts have been included in arriving at loss from operations:

(a)	O ther income

	I ncluded in other income of the Group and of the Company are the following:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest income

- from subsidiaries - - (2,958) (3,007)

- deposits with financial institutions (102) (242) (82) (207)

- others (198) (323) (10) (2)

Dividend income - - - (4,500)

Bad debt recovered (20) - - -

Write back of allowance for doubtful debts

- subsidiaries - - - (12,327)

- other receivables - (181) - (181)

Gain on disposal of investment properties (Note 38(b)) (5,488) - (5,488) -

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (673) (2,005) (619) (2,756)

Unrealised foreign exchange gain (4,489) - (4,489) -

Rental income (21) (170) - -
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8.	L oss from operations (cont’d)

(b)	A dministrative and operating expenses

	I ncluded in administrative and operating expenses of the Group and of the Company are the following:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Staff costs (Note 9) 6,967 7,320 3,695 2,741

Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 10) 409 46 409 46

Auditors’ remuneration (Note 11)

- statutory audits 216 256 124 195

- other services 59 30 16 -

Bad debts written off - 565 - 565

Allowance for doubtful debts

- subsidiaries - - - 3,220

- trade receivables 13,472 6,258 13,350 6,258

- other receivables 37 - - -

Professional fees paid to a consultant in connection 
   with a Settlement Agreement reached with the State 
   of Madagascar 8,760 - 8,760 -

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 5,002 5,463 4,400 4,870

Property, plant and equipment written off 1,240 - 1,240 -

Direct operating expenses of investment properties

- non-revenue generating during the year - 10 - 10

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments (Note 17) 7 7 7 7

Office and store rent 696 1,141 615 790

Impairment of investment in:

- subsidiaries (Note 19) - - - 24,755

- associates (Note 20) - 10,873 - 10,549

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 2,500 - 2,500 -

Provision for liquidated ascertained damages (Note 29) - 4,602 - -

Rent of equipment 43 121 - -

Realised foreign exchange loss 1 5 - -

Unrealised foreign exchange loss - 3,597 - 3,597
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9.	S taff costs

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Wages and salaries 6,672 7,728 4,528 4,798

Social security costs 77 143 50 80

Pension cost - defined contribution plans 828 885 550 542

Other staff related expenses 1,578 2,290 755 1,047

9,155 11,046 5,883 6,467

Less: Staff costs included in construction 
 contract costs (Note 25) (2,188) (3,726) (2,188) (3,726)

6,967 7,320 3,695 2,741

	I ncluded in staff costs of the Group and of the Company are executive directors’ remuneration (excluding benefits in kind) 
amounting to RM1,453,342 (2008: RM835,000) and RM1,224,600 (2008: RM805,000) respectively as further disclosed 
in Note 10.

10.	 Directors’ remuneration

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Directors of the Company

Executive:

Salaries and other emoluments 1,453 805 1,225 805

Benefits-in-kind 153 17 153 17

Fees - 30 - -

1,606 852 1,378 822

Non-executive:

Fees 133 - 133 -

Other emoluments 276 46 276 46

409 46 409 46

2,015 898 1,787 868
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10.	 Directors’ remuneration (cont’d)

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Analysis excluding benefits-in-kind:

Total executive directors’ remuneration excluding 
   benefits-in-kind (Note 9) 1,453 835 1,225 805

Total non-executive directors’ remuneration 
   excluding benefits-in-kind 409 46 409 46

Total directors’ remuneration excluding 
   benefits-in-kind 1,862 881 1,634 851

	T he number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following bands is 
analysed below:

Number of directors

2009 2008

Executive directors:

RM100,001 to RM200,000 1 1

RM250,001 to RM300,000 - 1

RM400,001 to RM450,000 1 1

RM750,001 to RM800,000 1 -

Non-executive directors:

Below RM50,000 7 9

RM50,001 to RM100,000 - -
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11.	A uditors’ remuneration

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Auditors of the Company 

Statutory audit 167 214 108 195

Tax 49 10 16 -

216 224 124 195

Other auditors

Statutory audit 49 42 16 -

Fees for other services:

- Tax 10 12 - -

- Others - 8 - -

59 62 16 -

275 286 140 195

12.	F inance costs

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest expense on:

- Bankers’ acceptances 94 145 - -

- Bank overdrafts 475 1,376 250 1,072

- Revolving credits 1,280 966 1,280 966

- Hire purchase 11 196 5 186

- Term loans 7,622 3,832 6,075 2,117

- Over accrual in prior year (1,973) - (1,973) -

7,509 6,515 5,637 4,341

Less: Interest expense capitalised in 
 property development costs 
 (Note 18(b)) (1,814) - - -

5,695 6,515 5,637 4,341
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13.	I ncome tax expense

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current income tax:

Malaysian income tax 45 45 - -

Foreign income tax - 2 - 2

Underprovision in prior years (Note a) 1,271 193 - -

1,316 240 - 2

Deferred tax (Note 32):

Relating to origination and reversal of 
   temporary differences (7) 65 - -

Relating to change in tax rate - 7 - -

Overprovision in prior years - (68) - -

(7) 4 - -

1,309 244 - 2

Note a:	T his relates to underprovision of tax by a subsidiary, Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd, for the year of assessment 
2003, based on the letter from Inland Revenue Board dated 29 April 2009.

	D omestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%) of the estimated assessable 
profit for the year.

	P ursuant to Paragraph 2B, Schedule 1 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 that was introduced with effect from the year of 
assessment 2009, the Group and the Company no longer qualified for the preferential rate applicable for Malaysian 
resident company with paid up capital of RM2.5 million or less of 20% on the first RM500,000 chargeable income. The 
current year income tax rate is 25%.
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13.	I ncome tax expense (cont’d)

	A  reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax 
expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Loss before tax (33,387) (55,919) (33,848) (68,646)

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%) (8,347) (14,539) (8,462) (17,848)

Effect of change in tax rate on opening deferred tax - 7 - -

Effects of different tax rate in other country - (11) - -

Income not subject to income tax (106) (3,321) - (4,492)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4,125 11,707 3,541 14,206

Deferred tax assets not recognised during the year 5,361 11,734 4,921 8,136

Utilisation of current year’s reinvestment allowance 52 - - -

Utilisation of previously unrecognised unabsorbed capital
   allowance (49) (5,458) - -

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (998) - - -

Underprovision of income tax in prior years 1,271 193 - -

Overprovision of deferred tax in prior years - (68) - -

Tax expense for the year 1,309 244 - 2

14.	B asic loss per share

	T he basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

2009 2008

Net loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (RM’000) (34,519) (56,074)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000) 102,000 102,000

Basic loss per share (sen) (33.8) (55.0)

	T here have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares between reporting date and the date of completion of 
these financial statements.
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment

Furniture, 

fittings Tools and 

Freehold and office Motor Plant and technical 

Buildings equipment vehicles machinery Renovations equipment Total 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Group

2009

Cost

At 1 January 325 5,279 22,405 107,486 334 3,181 139,010 

Additions - 238 - 40 412 1 691 

Transfer from inventories 641  -  - -  -  - 641 

Disposals -  (166)  (1,524)  (2,606)  -  -  (4,296)

Written off - -  -  (1,742)  -  (21)  (1,763)

At 31 December  966 5,351 20,881 103,178  746  3,161  134,283 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 45 4,854 20,447 80,419  326 2,522  108,613 

Charge for the year 15 260 411  4,157 39 120 5,002 

Disposals - (166)  (1,199)  (2,734)  -  -  (4,099)

Written off  -  -  -  (502)  -  (21)  (523)

Impairment  -  -  -  2,500  -  -  2,500 

At 31 December  60  4,948  19,659  83,840  365  2,621  111,493 

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 906 403  1,222  19,338  381  540 22,790
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Furniture, 

fittings Tools and 

Freehold and office Motor Plant and technical 

Buildings equipment vehicles machinery Renovations equipment Total 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Group

2008

Cost

At 1 January  100  5,284  23,820  113,510  334  3,181  146,229 

Additions  225  66  3  37  -  -  331 

Disposals  -  (52)  (1,418)  (6,061)  -  -  (7,531)

Exchange differences  -  (19)  -  -  -  -  (19)

At 31 December  325  5,279  22,405  107,486  334  3,181  139,010 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January  36  4,586  20,959  81,951  322  2,395  110,249 

Charge for the year  9  320  612  4,391  4  127  5,463 

Disposals  -  (40)  (1,124)  (5,923)  -  -  (7,087)

Exchange differences  -  (12)  -  -  -  -  (12)

At 31 December  45  4,854  20,447  80,419  326  2,522  108,613 

Net carrying amount

At 31 December  280  425  1,958  27,067  8  659  30,397 

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Furniture, 

fittings Tools and 

Freehold and office Motor Plant and technical 

Buildings equipment vehicles machinery Renovations equipment Total 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Company

2009

Cost

At 1 January  100  3,519  10,708  99,000  133  2,990  116,450 

Additions  -  206  -  40  322  1  569 

Disposals  -  -  (1,381)  (1,393)  -  -  (2,774)

Written off  -  -  -  (1,662)  -  -  (1,662)

At 31 December  100  3,725  9,327  95,985  455  2,991  112,583 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January  38  3,276  9,179  72,497  132  2,335  87,457 

Charge for the year  2  158  154  3,939  31  116  4,400 

Disposals  -  -  (1,094)  (1,392)  -  -  (2,486)

Written off  -  -  -  (422)  -  -  (422)

Impairment - - -  2,500  -  -  2,500 

At 31 December  40  3,434  8,239  77,122  163  2,451  91,449 

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 60 291 1,088 18,863 292 540 21,134
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Furniture, 

fittings Tools and 

Freehold and office Motor Plant and technical 

Buildings equipment vehicles machinery Renovations equipment Total 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Company

2008

Cost

At 1 January  100  3,519  12,031  104,984  133  2,990  123,757 

Additions  -  -  3  -  -  -  3 

Disposals  -  -  (1,326)  (5,984)  -  -  (7,310)

At 31 December  100  3,519  10,708  99,000  133  2,990  116,450 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January  36  3,083  9,949  74,080  132  2,213  89,493 

Charge for the year  2  193  275  4,278  -  122  4,870 

Disposals  -  -  (1,045)  (5,861)  -  -  (6,906)

At 31 December  38  3,276  9,179  72,497  132  2,335  87,457 

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 62 243 1,529 26,503 1 655 28,993

(a) 	N et carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company held under hire purchase 
arrangement are as follows:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Motor vehicles 891 1,502 891 1,301

Plant and machinery - 1,357 - 1,357

891 2,859 891 2,658
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(b)	P lant and machinery of the Group and of the Company with an aggregate net carrying amount of RM952,799 (2008: 
RM2.80 million) are pledged as securities for borrowings (Note 30).

(c)	P lant and machinery of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount of RM18.34 million (2008: RM22.28 million) 
were previously seized by the State of Madagascar. However, as disclosed in Note 23(c), pursuant to a Settlement 
Agreement dated 21 May 2009, the State of Madagascar has released these plant and machinery to the Company’s 
branch in Madagascar. However, these assets are currently idle. A provision of RM2.5 million has been made for 
impairment based on valuation done by a professional valuer, Cabinet Meva, from Madagascar in August 2009.

(d)	T he buildings are pledged to financial institutions as security for certain borrowings granted to the Company and its 
subsidiary as referred to in Note 30.

(e)	I ncluded in the write off of the plant and equipment during the financial year is the carrying amount of 6 trucks of 
RM1,200,000 donated to the State of Madagascar pursuant to a Settlement Agreement as detailed in Note 23(c).

16.	I nvestment properties

Group/Company

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 1,712 1,712

Disposals (1,712) -

At 31 December - 1,712

	D uring the year, the Company had disposed the investment properties to Kentlee (M) Sdn Bhd as disclosed in Note 
38(b).

	I n the previous financial year, the entire investment properties were pledged as securities for borrowings obtained by the 
Company (Note 30).

	T he fair value of investment property is as follows:

Group/Company

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Freehold land - 7,146

	T he fair value of the investment property as at 31 December 2008 was based on directors’ appraisal.
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17.	 Prepaid land lease payments

Group/Company

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Long term leasehold property

At 1 January 227 234

Amortisation for the year (Note 8(b)) (7) (7)

At 31 December 220 227

	T he remaining lease term of this land is 54 years.

18.	L and held for property development and property development costs

(a)	L and held for property development

Group

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 120,264 120,264

Development costs incurred during the year 610 -

At 31 December 120,874 120,264

	T he entire land is subject to a material litigation as disclosed in Note 38(d). Because of uncertainty over the 
development of the said land, no reclassification was made to property development costs despite certain selling 
activities taking place as disclosed in Note 34(f).

	T he entire land is charged as security for borrowings obtained as disclosed in Note 30.



85	 ho hup construction company berhad (14034-W)

	 2009 Annual Report

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

18.	L and held for property development and property development costs (cont’d)

(b)	 Property development costs

Group

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Cumulative property development costs:

At 1 January

Freehold land cost 21,990 21,990

Development costs 109,231 102,875

131,221 124,865

Costs incurred during the year:

Development costs 8,413 6,356

Reversal of completed projects 792 -

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (Note 27) (19,066) -

121,360 131,221

Cumulative costs recognised in income statement:

At 1 January (100,170) (94,752)

Recognised during the year (10,136) (2,487)

Disposal of land (Note 38(a)(i) and (ii)) (8,137) -

Provision for foreseeable losses (Note 7) - (2,931)

Reversal of completed projects (792) -

At 31 December (119,235) (100,170)

Property development costs at 31 December 2,125 31,051

	I ncluded in property development costs incurred during the financial year are interest costs amounting to RM1,814,813 
(2008: RM Nil).

	D uring the current financial year, a subsidiary of the Company disposed 2 parcels of land for cash considerations 
totalling RM15.51 million, resulting in a gain of disposal of RM7.37 million. Details of the disposals are disclosed in 
Note 38(a)(i) and (ii).

	T he land held for property development and property development costs are pledged to financial institutions as 
security for certain borrowings granted to the Group as referred to in Note 30.
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19.	I nvestment in subsidiaries

Company

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 40,702 40,702

Less: Accumulated impairment losses (24,955) (24,955)

15,747 15,747

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Proportion of ownership

interest (%)

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities 2009 2008

Incorporated in Malaysia

H2 Energy Corporation Sdn Bhd * (Note a) Engineering, procurement, construction
and commissioning of pipeline system

100 100

Tru-Mix Concrete Sdn Bhd (Note a) Manufacturing and distribution of
ready-mixed concrete

90 90

Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (Note a) Property development 70 70

Ho Hup Jaya Sdn Bhd (Note a) Inactive 100 100

Ho Hup Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd* (Note a) Rental of equipment 100 100

Mekarani Heights Sdn Bhd* (Note a) Dormant 100 100

Intermax Resources Sdn Bhd* (Note a) Dormant 100 100

Ho Hup Geotechnic Sdn Bhd* (Note a) Dormant 100 100

Timeless Element Sdn Bhd* (Note a) Dormant 100 100

Incorporated in India

Ho Hup Construction Company (India) 
   Pte Ltd* (Note b)

Construction 100 100

Incorporated in Mauritius

Ho Hup Construction (Mauritius) Limited * 
   (Note a)

Dormant 100 100
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19.	I nvestment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Proportion of ownership

interest (%)

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities 2009 2008

Incorporated in South Africa

Ho Hup Construction (South Africa) Pty Ltd * 
   (Note a)

Construction 100 100

Incorporated in Indonesia

PT Halford Citra * (Note a) Management consulting in property
and manufacturing business

80 80

*	A udited by firms other than Ernst & Young

(a)	T he audited financial statements for the following subsidiaries are not available at the date of this report:

- H2 Energy Corporation Sdn Bhd
- Tru-mix Concrete Sdn Bhd
- Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd
- Ho Hup Jaya Sdn Bhd
- Ho Hup Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd
- Mekarani Heights Sdn Bhd
- Intermax Resources Sdn Bhd
- Ho Hup Geotechnic Sdn Bhd
- Timeless Element Sdn Bhd
- Ho Hup Construction (Mauritius) Limited
- Ho Hup Construction (South Africa) Pty Ltd
- PT Halford Citra
- Ho Hup Construction Company (India) Pte Ltd

	T he Board of Directors of the above subsidiaries have not adopted any financial statements nor provided any 
representation to their respective auditors. Consequently, the auditors’ reports are not available as well.
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19.	I nvestment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(b)	D uring the financial year ended 31 March 2009, the auditors’ report on the financial statements of Ho Hup Construction 
Company (India) Pte Ltd include an emphasis of matter paragraph as follows:

	 “Without qualifying our opinion, we would like to bring a notice, that the company suffered a loss of Rs.11,069,226 for 
the year ended 31 March 2009 and its accumulated losses on that date were Rs.39,731,524 and its current liabilities 
exceed current assets by Rs.35,539,668. This has resulted in the net worth of the company being completely eroded 
and raises substantial doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. However, the Company 
with financial support from its parent company, Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad, is confident of funding its 
operating and capital expenditure and continue its operations as a going concern. The company is engaged in the 
business of construction and is eligible to receive a share of profit from the Ho Hup Simplex Joint Venture formed for 
executing a road project in India. As the Joint Venture recognizes income based on the completed contract method 
as per the provisions of Accounting Standard -7 for “Accounting for Construction Contracts” issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India, the company will receive its share of the profit only on completion of the project. 
The Financial Statements have been prepared based on the assumption that the company will continue as a going 
concern and realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in normal course of business.”

(c) 	T he following subsidiaries have been consolidated using the following financial information:

Name of subsidiaries Financial information used

H2 Energy Corporation Sdn Bhd
   (formerly known as Homeg Sdn Bhd)

Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Ho Hup Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Mekarani Heights Sdn Bhd Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Intermax Resources Sdn Bhd Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Ho Hup Geotechnic Sdn Bhd Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Timeless Element Sdn Bhd Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Ho Hup Construction (Mauritius) 
   Limited

Draft audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

Ho Hup Construction Company 
   (India) Pte Ltd (Note b)

Unaudited management accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009

Ho Hup Construction (South Africa) 
   Pty Ltd

Audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007

PT Halford Citra Audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007
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20.	I nvestments in associates

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 12,954 12,917 12,954 12,917

Share of post acquisition reserves 6 27 - -

12,960 12,944 12,954 12,917

Less: Accumulated impairment losses (12,944) (12,944) (12,917) (12,917)

16 - 37 -

Represented by:

Share of net assets 16 -

Details of the associates are as follows:

Proportion of ownership

interest (%)

Name of associates Principal activities 2009 2008

Incorporated in Malaysia

Semenyih Brickmakers Sdn Bhd Dormant 49 49

Hupcon Antarabangsa Sdn Bhd Dormant 50 50

Incorporated in The People’s Republic of China

Shanghai San Ho Hup Pile Co Ltd Manufacturing and trading of concrete
spun piles

45 45

Incorporated in Thailand

Ho Hup Corporation (Thailand) Limited Dormant 48 48

Incorporated in Madagascar

Ho Hup Construction (Madagascar) Sarl Dormant 49.9 49.9

Madagascar Malaysia Equipment Rental 
   (Note b)

Dormant 49.8 -

Madagascar Malaysia Construction Company 
   (Note b)

Dormant 49.8 -
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20.	I nvestments in associates (cont’d)

(a)	I n prior financial year, the Group and the Company made additional impairment losses of RM10,873,378 and 
RM10,548,759 respectively in respect of its net investment in Shanghai San Ho Hup Pile Co. Ltd and Ho Hup 
Corporation (Thailand) Limited as these associates have sustained losses for the past financial years.

(b)	D uring the financial year, the Group and the Company acquired 49.8% equity interests in Madagascar Malaysia 
Equipment Rental and Madagascar Malaysia Construction Company for consideration of RM18,405 each.

(c)	T he summarised financial information of the associates are as follows:

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets 5,575 6,431

Current assets 14,362 11,325

Total assets 19,937 17,756

Current liabilities (13,601) (10,379)

Net assets 6,336 7,377

Results

Revenue 14,642 14,702

Loss for the year (896) (989)

(d)	T he audited financial statements of the following associates are not available as at the date of these financial 
statements:

i.	S emenyih Brickmakers Sdn Bhd
ii.	H upcon Antarabangsa Sdn Bhd
iii.	H o Hup Corporation (Thailand) Limited

21.	I nvestment in jointly controlled entities

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted investment, at cost 250 250 250 250

Share of post-acquisition reserves (250) (250) - -

- - 250 250

Less: Accumulated impairment losses - - (250) (250)

- - - -
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21.	I nvestment in jointly controlled entities (cont’d)

	D etails of the jointly controlled entities are as follows:

Proportion of ownership

interest (%)

Name of jointly controlled entities Principal activities 2009 2008

Ho Hup-Ballast Nedam Joint Venture Dormant 50 50

Ho Hup-Star-Zaks Joint Venture Dormant 50 50

Ho Hup-Simplex Joint Venture Inactive 50 50

	A  subsidiary of the Company, Ho Hup Construction Company (India) Pte Ltd (“Ho Hup India”) is eligible to receive a share 
of profit from the Ho Hup-Simplex Joint Venture formed for executing a road project in India. However, the Joint Venture 
will receive its share of the profit only on completion of the project. The auditors’ report on the financial statements of Ho 
Hup India for the financial year ended 31 March 2009 as disclosed in Note 19(b) includes an emphasis of matter paragraph, 
which draws attention to this matter.

22.	I nventories

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At cost:

Construction materials 527 165 130 -

Property held for sale 641 641 - -

Less: Transfer to property, plant and equipment (641) - - -

527 806 130 -

	D uring the financial year, the property held for sale has been transferred to property, plant and equipment for own use.
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23.	T rade receivables

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables 64,516 79,152 54,219 61,850

Accrued billings in respect of property
   development costs 3,282 6,688 - -

Retention sums on contracts (Note 25) 11,049 8,390 11,049 8,390

78,847 94,230 65,268 70,240

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (46,552) (33,080) (46,060) (32,710)

32,295 61,150 19,208 37,530

	I n the previous financial year, allowance for doubtful debts of RM565,107 of the Group and the Company were written off 
against the trade receivables.

	T rade receivables of the Group and of the Company include an aggregate amount of RM1.53 million (2008: RM1.53 million) 
receivable from the subsidiary of an associated investor in connection with progress billings on construction works. This 
debt has been fully provided for.

	T he Group’s normal trade credit terms range from 14 to 90 days (2008: 14 to 90 days). Other credit terms are assessed 
and approved on a case-by-case basis.

	T he Group’s and the Company’s credit exposures are concentrated mainly on 9 (2008: 14) and 8 (2008: 11) trade receivables 
respectively, which accounted for 50% (2008: 53%) and 59% (2008: 51%) respectively of the total trade receivables as 
at the year then ended.

(a)	I ncluded in the trade receivables of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 are the following 
amounts owing from one (2008: two) customers for contracts under disputes. The Company is taking legal action to 
recover the disputed amounts owing. The status of the legal action is disclosed in Note 39(iii). Details of these debts 
are as follows:

Group/Company

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

Gross amount receivable 10,675 16,133

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (10,675) (16,133)

Net amount receivable - -
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23.	T rade receivables (cont’d)

(b)	I ncluded in the trade receivables of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 is an amount of RM Nil 
(2008: RM18.65 million), being the amounts due from the State of Madagascar in relation to construction contracts 
which were awarded to the Company by the State of Madagascar. These construction contracts were terminated 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2006.

	T he Company has initiated an arbitration claim at the International Court of Arbitration under the Rules of the 
International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”), Paris to recover damages it had sustained as a result of the unlawful 
contract termination. Details of the arbitration proceedings against the State of Madagascar are disclosed in Note 
39(v). However, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the State of Madagascar during the financial 
year, details of which are disclosed below. As a result of the Settlement Agreement, the State of Madagascar paid 
RM14.06 million to the Company of which RM5.30 million was used to set-off the aforementioned debt and the 
balance debt of RM13.35 million was fully provided for as doubtful debt. The balance of the amount received of 
RM8.76 million was paid as consultation fee to a consultant for facilitating the Settlement Agreement.

(c)	O n 21 May 2009, the Company had signed a settlement agreement with the State of Madagascar with the following 
terms and conditions:

(i)	T he State of Madagascar and Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“the parties”) agree to a mutual withdrawal 
of an Arbitration suit held in Paris CCI, no: 14573/EC on the following terms:

-	T he parties shall renounce their debts towards each other, as claimed and counter claimed in the 
arbitration.

-	T he parties shall agree to bear their own legal cost and expenses arising out of this settlement and/or 
withdrawal.

-	T he parties shall immediately instruct their respective solicitors to withdraw arbitration proceedings upon 
signing of the agreement.

-	T he parties agree not to enforce the judgement of the arbitration in Paris regardless of the outcome.

(ii)	P ayments to all Ho Hup’s creditors:

- 	H o Hup agrees to settle all the creditors’ debts subject to a verification by Ho Hup’s auditor and solicitor.
- 	T he State of Madagascar agrees to assist Ho Hup to recover all its debts with all companies in Madagascar, 

if any.
- 	I n negotiating with all Ho Hup’s creditors and debtors, the State of Madagascar agrees to provide its 

representative together with Ho Hup’s auditor and solicitor to resolve any dispute, if any.

(iii)	A ll charges including storage, security or any other charges in respect of all Ho Hup machineries in Madagascar 
shall be borne by the State of Madagascar, until the agreement is signed.

(iv)	H o Hup agrees to donate six trucks to the State of Madagascar bearing Ho Hup’s logo and the Malaysian flag.

(v)	T he State of Madagascar agrees to resolve any dispute or legal actions taking against Ho Hup in respect of the 
agreement.
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23.	T rade receivables (cont’d)

(c)	O n 21 May 2009, the Company had signed a settlement agreement with the State of Madagascar with the following 
terms and conditions: (cont’d)

(vi)	T he State of Madagascar agrees to release all the machineries to Ho Hup upon the execution of the agreement, 
and when all Ho Hup creditors are paid in Madagascar. Nevertheless, the State of Madagascar shall continue 
to provide security and storage facilities for three months. All extra-storage charges after three months shall 
be borne by Ho Hup. However, Ho Hup can ask for special permission to use some of the machineries if 
required.

(vii)	T he State of Madagascar shall be committed to find special solutions for any payment issue of the customs tax/
duty imposed on Ho Hup Madagascar regarding the machineries if applicable. The State of Madagascar shall 
assist in providing or exempting all necessary documentation or permit for the lawful usage or export of these 
machineries out of Madagascar upon release of the machineries to Ho Hup.

(viii)	T he parties further agree for future venture and co-operation.

(viv)	H o Hup is looking forward to make charity contribution to the people of Madagascar in future.

(x)	T he State of Madagascar agrees to release USD4 million to Ho Hup’s bank account in Madagascar based on the 
following:

- 	USD 1.5 million upon the execution of the agreement
- 	USD 2.5 million within 30 days upon execution of agreement

(xi)	T he parties agree to have neither further claim nor initiate any further legal action against each other.

(xii)	T he parties agree to engage Brillant Profession Holdings Limited (“BPHL”) to settle all above issues for a fee of 
USD2.5 million.

	R esulting from the Settlement Agreement, a charge of approximately RM23,310,000 was recognised in the income 
statements of the Group and of the Company as follows:

RM’000

Allowance for doubtful debt 13,350

Donation of 6 trucks 1,200

Professional fee paid to consultant 8,760

23,310
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24.	O ther receivables

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Due from subsidiaries (Note a) - - 197,325 212,402

Deposits (Note b) 5,360 5,436 4,246 3,861

Prepayments 153 328 - -

Sundry receivables 30,949 34,835 30,889 32,825

36,462 40,599 232,460 249,088

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts

- due from subsidiaries - - (33,817) (37,037)

- other receivables (7,142) (7,105) (7,105) (7,105)

(7,142) (7,105) (40,922) (44,142)

29,320 33,494 191,538 204,946

(a)	I ncluded in amount due from subsidiaries is a debt due from BJD of RM140.91 million (2008: RM153.51 million). This 
debt is unsecured, repayable on demand, is subject to interest at 2.0% (2008: 2.0%) per annum and is subordinated 
to the term loan facilities of BJD.

	O ther balances due from the rest of the subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 
demand.

(b)	I ncluded in the other receivables of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 is an amount of deposit 
of RM1.5 million (2008: RM1.5 million) paid in relation to a proposed acquisition of 51% of the total issued and paid-
up share capital of Urban Shift Sdn Bhd. This acquisition was abandoned in prior year. Allowance for doubtful debts 
has been made in respect of the entire deposit.
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25.	 Due from customers on contracts

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Construction contract costs incurred to date 126,803 123,968 133,239 125,994

Attributable (loss)/profits (2,445) 10,376 (1,577) 11,244

124,358 134,344 131,662 137,238

Less: Progress billings (124,358) (134,344) (131,662) (137,238)

Due from customer on contracts - - - -

Retention sums on contract, included within 
   trade receivables (Note 23) 11,049 8,390 11,049 8,390

The costs incurred to date on construction contracts include the following costs incurred during the year:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Hire of plant and machinery 465 804 465 804

Staff costs (Note a) 2,188 3,726 2,188 3,726

Rental of premises - 83 - 83

(a)   Wages and salaries 1,678 2,881 1,678 2,881

Social security costs 31 51 31 51

Pension cost - defined contribution plans 211 326 211 326

Other staff related expenses 268 468 268 468

Staff costs (Note 9) 2,188 3,726 2,188 3,726
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26.	C ash and bank balances

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash on hand and at banks 15,427 2,355 3,158 1,055

Deposits with licensed banks 1,784 8,227 1,784 8,227

Cash and bank balances 17,211 10,582 4,942 9,282

Less: Bank overdrafts (Note 30) (5,749) (7,597) (2,914) (4,230)

11,462 2,985 2,028 5,052

Less: Cash at banks restricted from use 
(Note a) (1,038) (124) - -

Sinking fund accounts restricted 
from use (Note b) (322) (209) - -

Deposits with licensed banks pledged 
as security (Note c) (1,784) (8,227) (1,784) (8,227)

Sinking fund accounts pledged 
as security (Note d) (660) (24) (660) (24)

Cash and cash equivalents 
restricted from use (3,804) (8,584) (2,444) (8,251)

Cash and cash equivalents 7,658 (5,599) (416) (3,199)

(a)	I ncluded in cash at banks of the Group is an amount of RM1,038,000 (2008: RM124,000) held pursuant to Section 
7A of the Housing Developers (Control and Licensing) Act 1966 and are therefore restricted from use in other 
operations.

(b)	I ncluded in cash at banks of the Group is an amount of RM322,000 (2008: RM209,000) placed in sinking funds for 
the purpose of expenditure incurred in repairs and maintenance of certain properties, as required by the Building and 
Common Property (Maintenance and Management) Act, 2007.

(c)	D eposits with licensed banks of the Group and of the Company amounting to RM1.78 million (2008: RM8.23 million) 
respectively are pledged to banks as security for credit facilities granted to the Group and to the Company as referred 
to in Note 30 and hence, are not available for general use.

(d)	S inking fund accounts of the Group and of the Company amounting to RM660,000 (2008: RM24,000) are pledged 
to banks as security for credit facilities granted to the Group and Company as referred to in Note 30 and hence, are 
not available for general use.

(e)	T he weighted average interest rates during the financial year for the Group and the Company were 2.01% (2008: 
3.18%) per annum and 2.01% (2008: 3.18%) per annum respectively.

(f)	T he average maturities of deposits with licensed banks as at 31 December 2009 were 57 days (2008: 65 days) and 
57 days (2008: 65 days) respectively.
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27.	N on-current asset classified as held for sale

The non-current assets classified as held for sale on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2009 are as follows:

Carrying amount as at

31 December 2009

RM’000

Land costs 8,280

Property development costs 10,786

19,066

	D etails on the non-current assets held for sale are disclosed in Note 38(a)(iii) and 38(a)(iv). The expected gain to be realised 
from the disposals of the above non-current assets held for sale is RM7.98 million.

28.	S hare capital

Number of ordinary

shares of RM1 each Amount

2009 2008 2009 2008

‘000 ‘000 RM’000 RM’000

Authorised:

At 1 January/31 December 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January/31 December 102,000 102,000 102,000 102,000

29.	 Provision for liquidated ascertained damages
      
	

Group

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 23,054 18,535

Additional provision made during the year (Note 8(b)) - 4,602

Payments made during the year (3,147) (83)

At 31 December 19,907 23,054

	P rovision for liquidated damages is in respect of property development projects undertaken by a subsidiary of the 
Company. The provision is recognised for expected liquidated damages claims based on the terms of the applicable sale 
and purchase agreements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

30.	B orrowings

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Short term

Secured:

Bank overdrafts 2,769 3,372 34 5

Term loans 85,726 87,230 69,040 69,383

Hire purchase payables (Note 31) 332 874 313 728

88,827 91,476 69,387 70,116

Unsecured:

Bank overdrafts 2,980 4,225 2,880 4,225

Revolving credits 1,247 5,814 1,247 5,814

Term loans 1,225 - 1,225 -

Bankers’ acceptances 968 3,000 - -

6,420 13,039 5,352 10,039

95,247 104,515 74,739 80,155

Long term

Secured:

Term loans 928 - 928 -

Unsecured:

Revolving credits 2,393 - 2,393 -

Term loans 1,716 - 1,716 -

4,109 - 4,109 -

5,037 - 5,037 -

Total borrowings

Bank overdrafts (Note 26) 5,749 7,597 2,914 4,230

Revolving credits 3,640 5,814 3,640 5,814

Bankers’ acceptances 968 3,000 - -

Term loans 89,595 87,230 72,909 69,383

Hire purchase payables (Note 31) 332 874 313 728

100,284 104,515 79,776 80,155

Maturity of borrowings (excluding hire 
   purchase payables):

Within one year 99,952 103,641 79,463 79,427
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30.	B orrowings (cont’d)

	I n the current and prior financial year, the Group and the Company did not meet repayment obligations relating to certain 
bank borrowings (excluding hire purchase payables) amounting to RM85.56 million (2008: RM103.64 million) and RM67.90 
million (2008: RM79.43 million) respectively. Accordingly, all instalments under these bank borrowings, which were 
originally scheduled for repayment after 31 December 2009 and 2008 respectively, have been reclassified as current 
liabilities.

	A s disclosed in Note 39(viii), on 6 April 2009, the Company was served with a sealed Writ of Summons and Statement 
of Claims by Alliance Investment Bank Berhad (“AIBB”) for the sum of RM3.82 million for a revolving credit facility 
and continuing interest on the principal outstanding of RM3.19 million. This amount is included in bank borrowings of 
the Group and of the Company. On 1 September 2009, both parties agreed to settle the matter amicably whereas the 
Company is to settle the principal sum and all accrued interests as per tranche payments tabulate by AIBB ie. payment 
vide monthly installments commencing from 1 July 2009 until 1 June 2012.

	A s disclosed in Note 39(ix), on 17 February 2009, the Company was served with a sealed Writ of Summons and Statement 
of Claims by RHB Bank Berhad (“RHB”) for the sum of RM2.72 million for a revolving credit facility and continuing 
interest on the principal outstanding of RM2.62 million. This amount is included in bank borrowings of the Group and of 
the Company. The Company and RHB has reached an out-of-court settlement on 27 October 2009. RHB has agreed to 
convert the Outstanding Sum into Terms Loan and the Company to pay the principal and the accrued interest in monthly 
installments. On 2 December 2009, the matter has been withdrawn with liberty by RHB to file afresh and no order as to 
costs.

	T he weighted average effective interest rates (excluding penalty interest rates) during the financial year for borrowings 
were as follows:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

% % % %

Bank overdrafts 7.05 8.30 7.05 8.10

Revolving credits 7.10 8.41 7.10 8.41

Bankers’ acceptances 3.46 4.89 - -

Term loans 7.80 8.47 7.99 8.59

(a)	T he secured bank overdrafts of the Group and of the Company are secured by:

(i)	D eposits with licensed banks as disclosed in Note 26; and

(ii)	S inking fund accounts as disclosed in Note 26;

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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30.	B orrowings (cont’d)

(b)	I n prior year, the secured revolving credits of the Group and of the Company were secured by:

(i)	D eposits with licensed banks as disclosed in Note 26; and

(ii)	S inking fund accounts as disclosed in Note 26;

(iii)	T hird party legal charge over the land held for development, development properties and property held for sale 
of a subsidiary as stated in Note 18 and Note 22;

- 	 Lot 36100, Geran 42276;
- 	 Lot 36101, Geran 42277;
- 	P art of Lot 38472, Geran 55265;
- 	 Lot 38474, Geran 55267; and
- 	 Lot 38476, Geran 55268.

(c)	T he secured term loans of the Group and of the Company are secured by:

(i)	P ledged fixed deposits;

(ii)	 First/third party charge over the development land in Mukim of Petaling, District of Kuala Lumpur owned by a 
subsidiary, ranking pari passu with subsidiary’s facilities as follows:

- 	 Lot No. 36100, Geran 42276 (individual titles issued) - 2 1/2 storey terrace/semi detached houses (50 
titles)

- 	 Lot No. 36101 - Commercial
- 	P art of Lot No. 38472 Geran 55265 (previously PT 7376, HS(D) 102342) - Vacant land surrounding the Jalil 

Mesra Apartment
- 	 Lot 38476 Geran 55268 (previously PT 7380, HS(D) 102346); and

First party first legal charge on the properties above was to secure facilities under the subsidiary.

(iii)	A ssignment of contract proceeds and advance payment to be remitted into an escrow account with the agent 
bank in Madagascar.

- 	 sinking fund to hold 5% of the contract proceeds remitted into the escrow account excluding the advance 
payment of up to maximum amount equivalent to 25% of the performance bond or approximately 
RM5,500,000.

(iv)	S upplemental agreement for the restructuring of RM63,000,000.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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31.	H ire purchase payables

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Future minimum lease payments:

Not later than 1 year 361 924 342 775

Less: Future finance charges liabilities (29) (50) (29) (47)

332 874 313 728

	T he hire purchase payables bear interest during the financial year of between 2.60% and 5.25% (2008: 2.60% and 5.25%) 
per annum.

	T he Company did not meet repayment obligations relating to hire purchase payables amounting to RM3,277 (2008: 
RM67,761). Accordingly, all hire purchase instalments under these hire purchase facilities, which were originally scheduled 
for repayment after 31 December 2009, are reclassified as current liabilities.

32.	 Deferred tax liabilities

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 25 38 - -

Recognised in income statement (Note 13) (7) 4 - -

Foreign exchange difference 17 - - -

At 31 December 35 42 - -

Presented after appropriate offsetting 
   as follows:

Deferred tax assets (5,885) (5,943) (5,558) (5,679)

Deferred tax liabilities 5,920 5,985 5,558 5,679

35 42 - -

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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32.	 Deferred tax liabilities (cont’d)

	T he components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the financial year prior to offsetting are as 
follows:

	 Deferred tax liabilities of the Group:

Accelerated 
capital

allowances Receivables Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2009 5,850 135 5,985

Recognised in income statement (65) - (65)

At 31 December 2009 5,785 135 5,920

At 1 January 2008 5,572 131 5,703

Recognised in income statement 278 4 282

At 31 December 2008 5,850 135 5,985

	 Deferred tax assets of the Group:

Unutilised tax

losses and

unabsorbed

capital

allowances Payables Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2009 (5,779) (164) (5,943)

Recognised in income statement 49 9 58

At 31 December 2009 (5,730) (155) (5,885)

At 1 January 2008 (5,465) (200) (5,665)

Recognised in income statement (314) 36 (278)

At 31 December 2008 (5,779) (164) (5,943)

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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32.	 Deferred tax liabilities (cont’d)

	 Deferred tax liabilities of the Company:

Accelerated

capital

allowances

RM’000

At 1 January 2009 5,679

Recognised in income statement (121)

At 31 December 2009 5,558

At 1 January 2008 5,362

Recognised in income statement 317

At 31 December 2008 5,679
	
	 Deferred tax assets of the Company:

Unutilised tax

losses and

unabsorbed

capital

allowances

RM’000

At 1 January 2009 (5,679)

Recognised in income statement 121

At 31 December 2009 (5,558)

At 1 January 2008 (5,362)

Recognised in income statement (317)

At 31 December 2008 (5,679)

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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32.	 Deferred tax liabilities (cont’d)

	D eferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised tax losses 145,221 127,768 83,752 64,068

Unabsorbed capital allowances 184 380 - -

Unutilised reinvestment allowances 296 89 - -

Other temporary differences 37,707 37,709 37,706 37,706

183,408 165,946 121,458 101,774

	T he unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances of the Group amounting to RM145.41 million (2008: RM128.15 
million) are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective entities within the Group, 
subject to no substantial change in shareholdings of those entities under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued 
by the tax authority.

	T he unutilised tax losses of the Company are available for offsetting against future taxable profits subject to no substantial 
change in shareholdings under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued by the tax authority.

33.	T rade payables

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables 62,054 69,225 51,474 57,512

Trade accruals 1,158 2,177 1,158 1,139

Retention sums on contracts 13,714 12,522 13,643 12,522

76,926 83,924 66,275 71,173

	T he normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 30 to 120 days (2008: 30 to 120 days). Any extension of 
credit terms are negotiated with the respective creditors on a case-by-case basis.

	T rade payables of the Group and of the Company amounting to RM5.86 million (2008: RM9.71 million) are under 
litigation.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

34.	O ther payables

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Due to subsidiaries (Note a) - - 21,557 21,272

Due to an associated investor (Note a) 1,211 1,211 - -

Due to companies/ estates in which certain 
   directors have beneficial interests (Note b) 6,241 6,848 6,241 5,721

Accruals (Note c) 12,106 26,235 6,621 18,437

Sundry payables (Note d) 24,480 15,788 13,307 8,652

Deposit received (Note e) 8,555 - - -

52,593 50,082 47,726 54,082

(a) 	T he amounts due to subsidiaries and to an associated investor are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 
demand.

(b) 	T he amounts due to companies/estates in which certain directors have beneficial interests are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

	 (c)	 (i)	I ncluded in accruals of the Group is an amount of RM2,542 (2008: RM2,542) owing to Sri Rakyat Management 
			S   dn Bhd (“Sri Rakyat”). Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”), a subsidiary of the Company, incorporated 
			S   ri Rakyat as a vehicle to undertake the obligations and responsibilities of BJD under the Strata Title Act 
			   1985 (Act 318) & Strata Titles Rules 1988 (“the Act”), as the original proprietor. Sri Rakyat will provide 
			   management and maintenance services for the low cost apartments and will be transferred to the parcel 
			   proprietors of the low cost apartments upon completion of the transfer of strata title in respect of all parcels 
			   by BJD or upon the making of an order under subsection (2) of the Section 64A of the Act.

(ii)	I ncluded in accruals of the Group and the Company is interest on borrowings and penalty on interest amounting 
to RM45,112 (2008: RM1.87 million).

(d)	I ncluded in sundry payables of the Group is a refundable deposit of RM Nil (2008: RM1.2 million) pursuant to a 
development agreement entered into by a subsidiary of the Company. The agreement was terminated during the 
year.

(e)	A lso included in sundry payables are deposits received of RM6,321,370 (2008: RM1,461,871) on land to be disposed 
as detailed in Note 38(a)(iiii) and (iv).



107	 ho hup construction company berhad (14034-W)

	 2009 Annual Report

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

34.	O ther payables (cont’d)

(f)	D uring the financial year, the Group had collected approximately RM8.55 million from potential purchasers as booking 
fees towards the shop offices that is proposed to be developed on the 60 acre land in Bukit Jalil Development Sdn 
Bhd (“BJD”). There are uncertainties as to whether the development will proceed and certain purchasers have 
requested for the refund of their booking fees and it is uncertain as to whether BJD and the Group have the 
necessary cash resources to refund these fees. Subsequent to balance sheet date, the Group collected a further 
sum of RM0.71 million of the booking fees.

(g)	I ncluded in accruals and sundry payables are amounts relating to the following:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unpaid wages and salaries including 
   holiday pay 718 1,058 686 1,008

Social security costs 127 167 127 166

Pension cost - defined contribution plans 1,271 1,735 1,204 1,701

Unpaid Schedular Tax Deductions 233 217 229 217

35.	T ax payable

	I ncluded in tax payable of the Group and the Company is an amount of RM8.5 million (2008: RM6.6 million) representing 
unpaid tax for years of assessment 2000 and 2005.

	I ncluded in tax payable of the Group and the Company is provision for tax penalty amounting to RM1.26 million (2008: 
RM1.10 million).
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36.	C ontingent liabilities

(a)	 Financial guarantees

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Guarantee given to financial institutions 
in respect of credit facilities granted 
to subsidiaries

- Unsecured - - 4,070 26,847

Guarantees issued by financial 
institutions in connection with 
performance bonds, security and 
tender deposits in favour of third 
parties for construction projects:

- Secured fixed deposits 10 7,047 10 7,047

- Unsecured 6,560 750 4,060 -

6,570 7,797 4,070 7,047

	T hese guarantees are secured by fixed deposits of the Group and the Company respectively as disclosed in Note 
26(c).

(b)	O n 24 May 2005, the Company was appointed as a sub-contractor for a construction of a highway project known 
as “Trans Kedah” project with a contract sum of RM230 million. The main contractor had subsequently awarded 
portions of the contract to another party due to the delays in the progress of the construction works and the inability 
of the Company to complete the whole of the construction works within the stipulated time frame. The terms of 
sub-contract provide that, in the event where the Company fails to complete the construction works by the stipulated 
date, the Company is liable for any liquidated ascertained damages to be imposed by the main contractor and the 
main contractor will be entitled to terminate the contract and continue and complete the works themselves or 
to engage others to complete the works on behalf of the Company, with any additional costs to be borne by the 
Company.

	T he financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 did not include any provision 
for any additional costs and liquidated ascertained damages, if any, payable by the Company to the main contractor 
as a result of failure to complete the construction works by the stipulated date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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37.	S ignificant related party transactions

(a)	I n addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company had the 
following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

Company

2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000

With subsidiaries

Purchases of materials from:

- Tru-Mix Concrete Sdn Bhd 933 1,379

Progress billings for construction work performed for:

- Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd 4,410 1,472

Rent of office payable to Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”) 124 -

Interest income from BJD 2,958 3,007

Dividend income from:

- Tru-Mix Concrete Sdn Bhd - 4,500

Hire of plant and machinery

- BJD - 3

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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37.	S ignificant related party transactions (cont’d)

(b)	T ransactions with other related parties

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

With companies/estates/individual 
   in which certain directors are 
   deemed to have beneficial 
   interests/related to

Office and store rent payable to:

- Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd* 382 330 382 330

- Estate of Low Chee** 66 427 54 402

- Estate of Tang Sau Kuan*** 34 72 - -

Rental income from:

- Tepat Concrete Industries Sdn Bhd**** - 60 - 60

Professional fees for development 
   order payable to K Woo Architect, a 
   firm owned by a related party to a 
   director of a subsidiary 180 -

*	C ertain directors of the Company are also directors of this company
**	E state of the late father of a director of the Company
***	E state of the late mother of a director of the Company
****	A  shareholder of a subsidiary is a director of this company

(c)	C ompensation of key management personnel

	T he key management personnel of the Company are its directors. The remuneration of directors during the year are 
disclosed in Note 10.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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38.	S ignificant and subsequent events

(a)	 Disposal of land by a subsidiary, Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”)

	O n 2 March 2009, BJD entered into the following transactions:

(i)	 a conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with Santari Sdn Bhd for the disposal of a parcel of freehold land 
held under Geran 55267, Lot 38474, Mukim of Petaling, District of Kuala Lumpur, state of Wilayah Persekutuan 
Kuala Lumpur (“Property”) for a cash consideration of RM9.83 million resulting in a gain of RM3.71 million.

	T he disposal was completed on 7 September 2009.

(ii)	 a conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with Etnik Masyhur Sdn Bhd for the disposal of a parcel of freehold 
land held under Geran 53418, Lot 39868, Mukim of Petaling, District of Kuala Lumpur, state of Wilayah 
Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (“Property”) for a cash consideration of RM5.68 million resulting in a gain of RM3.66 
million.

	T he disposal was completed on 31 December 2009.

(iii)	 a conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with Permata Juang (M) Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Magna Prima Berhad for the disposal of a parcel of freehold land held under Geran 55268, Lot 38476, Mukim 
of Petaling, District of Kuala Lumpur, state of Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur for a cash consideration of 
RM19.41 million.

	T he disposal has not been completed as at balance sheet date as the Court granted an ad interim injunction to 
PJSB as disclosed in Note 39(xvi)(b). As at 31 December 2009, the Company received RM6,636,981 as deposit 
for the disposal of land.

	S ubsequent to the balance sheet date at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on the 29 March 2010, the 
shareholders of the holding company, Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad had voted in favour of the disposal 
of the land to PJSB. Consequently, the disposal of this land is completed subsequent to balance sheet date.

(iv)	 on 16 December 2009, BJD entered into a conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with Action Master Sdn 
Bhd (“AMSB”) for the disposal of a parcel of freehold land for a cash consideration of RM7.64 million.

	T he disposal has not  been completed as at balance sheet date as the Company has yet to issue the circular 
to shareholders to hold an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) for the approval on the disposal of land to 
Action Master Sdn Bhd. On 17 March 2010, there was a change in the Board of Directors of its holding company, 
Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad. The said change interrupted the issuance and finalisation of the circular 
to shareholders and the Company had on 1 April 2010 submitted an application to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad for an extension of time from 2 April 2010 up to 2 May 2010 to issue the circular to shareholders in 
relation to the disposal and on 30 April 2010 resubmitted a revised circular to Bursa Securities for its approval.

 
	A s at 31 December 2009, BJD received RM1,146,260 as deposit for the disposal of land.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)



112	 ho hup construction company berhad (14034-W)

	 2009 Annual Report

38.	S ignificant and subsequent events (cont’d)

(b)	 Disposal of investment property by the Company	

	O n 25 September 2009, the Company entered into a conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with Kentlee (M) Sdn 
Bhd for the disposal of a piece of vacant industrial land held under H.S.(D) 812 No.PT 4150 Mukim Cheras, Daerah 
Hulu Langat, Negeri Selangor measuring approximately 5.4677 acre for a consideration of RM7.2 million resulting in 
a gain of RM5.49 million. The land was previously classified as investment property of the Company. The proceed 
from the disposal is used to reduce borrowings with a bank.

(c)	C hange in Board of Directors of the Company

	D uring an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 17 March 2010, the shareholders of Ho Hup had voted 
to remove six (6) of the seven (7) directors of the Company and appointed six (6) new non-executive directors to the 
Board of Directors of the Company. Subsequent appointment of Dato Ramli Yusoff took place on 28 April 2010.

(d)	 Joint Development Agreement (“JDA”) with Malton Berhad

	O n 17 March 2010, the Company had announced that it’s 70% subsidiary, BJD, had on 16 March 2010, entered into a 
Joint Development Agreement (“JDA”) with Pioneer Haven Sdn Bhd (“PHSB”), a subsidiary of Malton Bhd (“JDA”),  
to develop a piece of freehold land held under individual title Geran 42277, Lot No. 36101, Mukim of Petaling, Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur, measuring in land area of approximately 243,000 square 
meter into a mixed commercial and residential development subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the 
JDA. 

 
	U nder the JDA, this development is to be carried out and completed in phases over the next ten (10) years from the 

date of the approval of the development order for the master layout plan with option to extend for a further five (5) 
years. The development order for the master layout plan was approved on 10 October 2007 but has since lapsed. An 
amended application was submitted to Dewan Bandaraya Kuala Lumpur (“DBKL”) on 26 November 2009 and is still 
pending approval. 

	O n 27 April 2010, the Company announced that it has filed a legal suit in the Kuala Lumpur High Court in respect of 
the JDA (“the Suit”) wherein the Suit seeks the High Court to declare the JDA null and void. 

	T he Company has also applied to the High Court for certain injunctions against PHSB and each of the other defendants 
of the Suit to restrain them from acting pursuant to the JDA.
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39.	 Material litigations

(i)	E uroplus Corporation Sdn Bhd vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad 
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. S1-22-241-2004

	E uroplus Corporation Sdn Bhd (“Europlus”) lodged a claim in the High Court, Kuala Lumpur, vide Civil Suit No. S1-
22-241-2004 on 26 February 2004. The claim is for an alleged overpayment under a project known as “Proposed 
Bukit Beruntung Interchange” for a sum of RM4,387,463.

	T he Summons and Statement of Claim has been filed on 26 February 2004 and served on 1 April 2004. The 
Company subsequently filed an application for further and better particulars on 30 July 2004 and the matter was 
fixed for hearing on 19 August 2004 but was adjourned to 26 October 2004. The Company obtained order in terms 
of the said application on 26 October 2004 and Europlus has subsequently served the Company the particulars as 
requested on 25 November 2004. The Company then filed its defence on 10 December 2004. As at balance sheet 
date, Europlus has not taken any further action in pursuing its claim. No further proceeding has initiated.

(ii)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs KM Quarry Sdn Bhd 
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. S1-22-1076-2005

	T he Company filed a claim against KM Quarry for an amount of RM3,433,334 for incomplete joint measurement 
and RM2,439,294 for overlapping claims. The matter is fixed for full trial on 18, 19 and 20 August 2010.

	 KM Quarry has filed a counter claim against the Company for a total sum of RM3,774,876 for works done for 
progress claim No 19, 20 & 21 plus the retention sum of RM862,019.

(iii)	A rbitration at Kuala Lumpur Regional Centre for Arbitration between Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad 
and 1) Revolutionary Technology Holdings Sdn Bhd; 2) Seri Siantan Sdn Bhd; and 3) Syarikat Pembinaan 
Al-Joffrie Sdn Bhd (“Respondents”)

	K uala Lumpur High Court Originating Summons No. R2-24-20-07

	O n 16 May 2006, by way of Court Order, a sole arbitrator was appointed. The Company is pursuing the matter by 
way of arbitration for the amount of RM23,438,498 together with interest at 8% per annum from 29 November 
2004  in respect of damages for unlawful termination for road construction works, balance value of work done at the 
termination date and loss and expense as a consequence of extension of time being granted to the Company.

	T he arbitral award was published on 14 September 2008 in favour of the Company for the sum of RM11,536,661 
together with interest and costs amounting to RM207,750.  

	O n 20 November 2009, the Court has allowed the Company’s application to register the award. The Company 
has instructed its solicitor to serve the Section 218 Notices on the three Defendants to demand the payment as 
awarded. Syarikat Pembinaan Al-Joffrie Sdn Bhd has filed an injunction to injunct the Company from filling winding-
up petition against them and the injunction is fixed for hearing on 2 March 2010 and postponed to 14 May 2010 for 
mention.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)



114	 ho hup construction company berhad (14034-W)

	 2009 Annual Report

39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(iv)	A rbitration between Ho Hup Construction Company (India) Pte Ltd and Andhra Pradesh Housing Board

	O n 9 March 2005, a subsidiary of the Company, Ho Hup Construction Company (India) Pte Ltd (“Ho Hup India”) 
entered into a Joint Development Agreement with the Andhra Pradesh Housing Board (“APHB”) to develop a 
piece of land situated at Kancha Imarath, Maheshwaran Mandal, Ranga Reddy District, Andhra Pradesh, India.  
Ho Hup India has been selected to implement the development of the said land into an intergrated township 
with an approximately development value of India Rupee (“Rs”) 3.6 billion (equivalent to RM204.92 million) at 
Shamshabad near Hyderabad. Ho Hup India shall pay APHB development fees of Rs101,175,000 (equivalent to 
RM8.57 million) over a period of 5 years.

	T his Joint Development Agreement was subsequently terminated by APHB. The Company is disputing the 
termination on the ground that APHB had yet to comply with its obligations in respect of condition precedent 
under the agreement.

	O n 2 May 2005, Ho Hup India commenced an arbitration claim for damages amounting to Rs.2,544,512,230 
(RM200.5million) being the unlawful termination of the abovementioned contract.

	T he award in Ho Hup India’s favour has been published in May 2008 as follows:-

(a)	APHB  shall pay Ho Hup India the sum of Rs16,796,250 (equivalent to RM1.42 million) together with simple interest 
at the rate of 12% per annum from 1 February 2006 to the date of payment;

(b)	APHB  shall pay partial compensation of Rs6 lakhs (equivalent to RM50,820) together with simple interest at the 
rate of 9% per annum from 6 January 2006 to the date of payment.

	A n appeal was submitted in the Hyderabad High Court to set a side the award and a date is pending. The purported 
termination does not have material adverse impact on the financial statement for the Group and of the Company.

	H o Hup’s appeal was dismissed and the lawyers in India are doing the needful to set aside the decision of the court in 
dismissing the appeal.

(v)	A rbitration between Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and the State of Madagascar

	D uring the financial year ended 31 December 2004, the Company was awarded certain construction contracts by 
the State of Madagascar. These construction contracts were terminated in February 2006.

	O n 14 September 2006, the Company commenced an arbitration claim to recover damages it sustained as a result 
of the unlawful contract termination and of the seizure of its equipment and material with net carrying amounts 
of RM22.28 million as at 31 December 2008 by the State of Madagascar following the termination. The claim has 
been referred to the International Court of Arbitration under the Rules of the International Chamber of Commerce 
(“ICC”), Paris.

	T he Company has quantified such damages at USD26.61 million (equivalent to RM97.13 million). The State of 
Madagascar has submitted a counter-claim for USD42.76 million (equivalent to RM156.07 million). In August 2008, 
the Company amended its claim to add the sum of USD13,278,350 (RM48.47 million) being reimbursement of 
monies disbursed by CIMB Bank Berhad pursuant to Bank Guarantees claimed by the State of Madagascar. 
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(v)	A rbitration between Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and the State of Madagascar (cont’d)

	O n 21 May 2009, the Company had signed a settlement agreement with the State of Madagascar with terms and 
conditions as disclosed in Note 23(c).

(vi)	H ino Motors (M) Sdn Bhd vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad 
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. S6-22-522-2007

	H ino Motors (M) Sdn Bhd (“Hino”) has claimed for the sum of RM5,332,065 plus interest being the balance 
outstanding sum owing for goods sold and delivered.

	T his matter was fixed for Hearing of Hino’s Summary Judgement Application on 28 January 2008. Both parties 
had orally submitted on the said Application on 28 January 2008. Hino’s Summary Judgement application was 
dismissed with cost. Hino has filed a Notice of Appeal to Judge in Chambers and this was allowed with costs by 
the Court on 22 July 2008. 

	O n 24 November 2008, the Company received a copy of the sealed judgement dated 22 July 2008 together with 
a letter of demand for the judgement sum. On 1 December 2009, both parties have agreed to settle the matter 
amicably in 24 instalments. 

(vii)	A ng Yoke Lian Construction Sdn Bhd vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad 
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. S6-22-977-2007

	A ng Yoke Lian Construction Sdn Bhd (“AYL”) filed Summons and Statement of Claim against the Company and 
served it on 30 October 2007. AYL’s claim is for the sum of RM1,493,041 being the outstanding sum owed for 
services rendered under the Letter of Award dated 16 March 2004.

	T he Company has filed Memorandum of Appearance on 5 November 2007 and Statement of Defence on 30 
November 2007. AYL’s solicitors have served on the Company an application for summary judgement and the same 
was dismissed with costs on 21 October 2008. AYL subsequently filed an appeal to the Court of Appeal on 30 
November 2008. The Court has fixed on 12 July 2010 for hearing of the appeal.

(viii)	A lliance Investment Bank Berhad vs 1) Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and 2) Tru-mix Concrete Sdn 
Bhd (“TMC”) 

	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D-22-442-2009

	O n 6 April 2009, the Company received a Writ of Summons from Alliance Investment Bank Berhad (“AIBB”) 
claiming the sum of RM3,824,580 together with interest at the rate of 2.75% per annum above AIBB’s Cost of 
Funds on the principal outstanding of RM3,191,249 and late payment interest of 1.07% per annum above the 
Prescribed rate on the monthly basis from 1 February 2009 to date of full payment.

	O n 1 September 2009, AIBB agreed to restructure the outstanding principal and interest.
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(ix)	RHB  Bank Berhad vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad 
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D-22-290-2009

	O n 17 February 2009, the Company received a Writ of Summons from RHB Bank Berhad (“RHB”) claiming the 
sum of RM2,722,302 together with interest at the rate of 3.50% per annum above the Base Lending Rate on the 
principal outstanding of RM2,623,196 and late payment interest of 3.50% per annum above the Prescribed rate on 
the monthly basis from 6 September 2008 to date of full payment.

	T he Company and RHB has reached for an out-of-court settlement on 27 October 2009. RHB has agreed to convert 
the Outstanding Sum into Terms Loan and the Company to pay the principal and the accrued interest in monthly 
installments. On 2 December 2009, the matter has been withdrawn with liberty to file afresh and no order as to 
costs.

(x)	L embaga Kumpulan Wang Simpanan Pekerja vs 1) Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad; 2) Lai Moo Chan; 
3) Low Teik Kien; 4) Dato’ Low Tuck Choy; 5) Datuk Mohd Ghazali @ Fauzi Bin Yakub; 6) Datuk Sulaiman Bin 
Daud; 7) Faris Najhan Bin Hashim; 8) Abdul Kadir Bin Md Kassim and 9) Wong Yoke Ming 

	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. S6-22-1086-2008

	O n 28 November 2008, the Company was served with a sealed Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim by 
Lembaga Kumpulan Wang Simpanan Pekerja (“KWSP”) for the sum of RM685,825. The Company has filed 
Memorandum of Appearance on 30 December 2008.

	O n 9 July 2009, both parties agreed to settle the matter amicably where the Company are to settle the balance 
outstanding sum via twenty four (24) monthly installments commencing from 16 June 2009 without the need to 
record consent judgment. The Plaintiff has withdrawn the matter with liberty to file afresh and with no order as to 
costs.

(xi)	 MJC Precast Sdn Bhd vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D8-22-145-2008
	S ection 218 Notice dated 8 January 2009

	T he Company was served with the Section 218 Notice dated 8 January 2009 as the Plaintiff had been granted 
Summary Judgement with costs on 29 October 2008.

	O n 4 March 2009, a winding-up petition dated 18 February 2009 was served on the Company and hearing date 
was scheduled for 21 May 2009.

	T he Company managed to settle the matter amicably with the Plaintiff and on 18 June 2009, the Court has struck 
out the Winding-Up Petition with costs.
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xii)	 Dato’ Low Tuck Choy vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and seven (7) others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. S3-23-160-2008

	O n 21 October 2008, Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (“Plaintiff”) served the Board of Directors, i.e.Tan Sri Datuk Seri 
Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir, Datuk Lye Ek Seang, Low Teik Kien, Mustapaha Bin Mohamed, Lai 
Moo Chan, Lee Chong Hoe and Zainal Abidin Bin Mohd Yusof and the Company with a Writ of Summons dated 21 
October 2008 and Statement of Claim dated 20 October 2008 (Civil Suit No. S3-23-160-2008). The Plaintiff claimed 
for damages including aggravated damages for libel, an injunction restraining the Defendants from publishing or 
causing to be published the same or similar words defamatory of the Plaintiff, and costs. The matter is pending for 
the Court to fix a date.

(xiii)	 Dato’ Low Tuck Choy vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. S-22-525-2009

	O n 31 July 2009, the Company was served by Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (“Plaintiff”)  with a Writ of Summons KL High 
Court Civil Suit S-22-525-2009 dated 24th July 2009, seeking damages and, an injunction that the Defendants and 
or his agents from causing the International Court of Arbitration from awarding the arbitral award. The Company 
has engaged solicitors to defend this matter. Statement of Defence filed on 26 October 2009 pending reply from 
the Plaintiff. This matter has been fixed for case management on 10 May 2010.

(xiv)	 Messrs Dorairaj, Low & Teh vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. S-22-492-2009

	O n 27 July 2009, the Company was served with a Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim dated 13 July 
2009 by Dorairaj, Low & Teh (“Plaintiff”) (Civil Suit No. S-22-492-2009) in relation to unpaid legal fees amounting 
to RM2,566,738.65 owing by the Company to the Plaintiff. The Company has filed a statement of defence on 
14 August 2009. Plaintiff has filed application for summary judgment and the application is now fixed for case 
management on 1 Jun 2010.

(xv)	 Permata Juang vs Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”)
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. D-22-NCC-202-2009

	B JD has been served with Writ Summons and Statement of Claim dated 5 October 2009 and affidavit affirmed on 
2 October 2009 by Permata Juang (M) Sdn. Bhd. (“PJSB”). Permata Juang has claimed for, inter alia: - 

(a)	 specific performance of the Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 2 March 2009; and

(b)	 an injunction to immediately stop and/or restrain BJD from continuing with the tender exercise with the 
intention of selling the land held under Geran 55268 Lot 34876 in the Mukim of Petaling, District of Kuala 
Lumpur and State of Wilayah Persekutuan;
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xv)	 Permata Juang vs Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”)
	K uala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. D-22-NCC-202-2009 (cont’d)

Alternatively, in lieu of specific performance:-

(a)	B JD to refund all monies paid by Permata Juang to BJD i.e. RM6,636,981; and

(b)	 general damages at the rate of 8% per annum calculated on a daily basis on the sum RM6,636,981 and 
further sum paid by Permata Juang to BJD.

	O n 14 December 2009 the High Court granted an Injunction in favour of Permata Juang to injunct BJD from selling 
the land to any other party and ordered that EGM to be called within 30 days from the date of the Order to obtain 
shareholders approval for the sale of the land to Permata Juang.

 
	B JD instructed its solicitor to file an application to seek an approval from the Court to extend the period to call for 

the EGM from 30 days to 90 days. BJD application fixed for hearing on 19 January 2010 where the court allowed 
the application. BJD filed another application to hold the EGM which has been scheduled on 19 March 2010 to be 
held on 29 March 2010 and the Court has allowed the application for the EGM to be held on 29 March 2010. On 
the said EGM, the shareholders have voted in favour of the disposal of the land to the Plaintiff. The matter fixed for 
case management on 27 May 2010.

(xvi)	 Dato’ Low Tuck Choy and Donatian Felix Dorairaj vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Originating Summons No. D5-24-14-2009

	D ato’ Low Tuck Choy and Donatian Felix Dorairaj (“Plaintiffs”) had filed originating summons at the Kuala Lumpur 
High Court (Originating Summons No. D5-24-14-09) against Chong Kok Weng, Sukumaran A/L Ramadass, Wong 
Wei Fong, the Company and BJD challenging 2 ordinary resolutions dated 2 December 2008 passed unanimously 
by the shareholders of BJD pursuant to Section 152A of the Act, to remove the Plaintiffs as BJD’s directors and to 
appoint Chong Kok Weng and Sukumaran A/L Ramadass instead. Both parties have filed their respective written 
submissions on 30 March 2009 and the decision for this matter which was previously fixed to be heard on 15 April 
2009 is now adjourned to 29 May 2009. The High Court on 30 June 2009 delivered its decision in favour of the 
Plaintiffs by granting the following orders (“Order”):-

(a)	 a declaration that the removals of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy and Donatian Felix Dorairaj as directors of the 
Company are null and void and of no effect;

(b)	 a declaration that the appointments of Mr. Chong Kok Weng and Mr. Sukumaran A/L Ramadass as directors 
of the Company are null and void and of no effect;

(c)	 a declaration that the appointment of Wong Wei Fong as company secretary of the Company is null and void 
and of no effect;

(d)	 a declaration that Muhammad Ashraf Bin Ahmad is the valid company secretary of the Company;
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xvi)	 Dato’ Low Tuck Choy and Donatian Felix Dorairaj vs Ho Hup Construction Company Bhd and others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Originating Summons No. D5-24-14-2009 (cont’d)

(e)	 an injunction restraining the 1st, 2nd and 3rd Defendants whether by themselves or by their servants 
or agents or otherwise howsoever from acting and/or holding themselves out as directors or company/ 
secretary of the Company;

(f)	 costs of and incidental to the proceedings to be paid by the 1st to 4th Defendants to the Plaintiffs;

(g)	 damages to be assessed by the Senior Assistant Registrar of the court and when so assessed to be paid 
by the 1st to 4th Defendants to the Plaintiffs

	T he Company had on 6 July 2009, filed a notice of appeal at the Court of Appeal (Appeal Suit No. W-02-1325-2009) 
against the High Court decision on 30 June 2009. The Court of Appeal had on 29 July 2009 granted an Order, inter 
alia, an injunction restraining the Respondents from taking any action and/or enter into any transactions, dealings, 
and/or business and taking any steps to retract and/or withdraw from any transactions, dealings and/or business 
entered into by the Company during the period from 2 December 2008 to 30 June 2009 without the approval of 
shareholders of BJD. The matter was fixed for hearing at the Court of Appeal on 23 March 2010 and thereafter 
postponed to 25 May 2010 for Case Management.

(xvii)	B ukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd vs Dato’ Low Tuck Choy
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D22-483-2009

	O n 16 March 2009, BJD filed a suit against Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (“LTC”) at the Kuala Lumpur High Court (Suit No. 
D-22-483-2009) for various breaches of director’s duties. The Writ of Summons dated 16 March 2009 was served 
on LTC’s solicitors on 7 May 2009. The matter is fixed for mention on 17 May 2010.

(xviii)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad & Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd vs Estate of Tang Sau Kuan and 
Estate of Low Chee

	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D8-22-483-2009
	S ection 218 Notice dated 22 May 2009

	O n 22 May 2009, Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJD”) was served by the Estate of Tang Sau Kuan and the 
Estate of Low Chee each with a Notice pursuant to Section 218 of the Act dated 22 May 2009 for the amount of 
RM915,967.52 and RM256,735.00 respectively. BJD had on 6 August 2009 written to the Estate of Tang Sau Kuan 
and the Estate of Low Chee to propose a settlement on a strictly without prejudice basis. BJD has yet to receive a 
reply from the Estate of Tang Sau Kuan and the Estate of Low Chee. The Company and BJD has appointed solicitor 
to file an Injunction to restraint Estate of Tang Sau Kuan and the Estate of Low Chee from presenting the Winding-
Up Petition. 
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xix)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Proskauer Rose LLP
	K uala Lumpur High Court Originating Summons No. D-24NCC-54-2009
	C ourt of Appeal Civil Appeal No. W-02NCC-3100-09

	O n 6 October 2009 Proskauer Rose LLP served a notice pursuant to Section 218 of the Companies Act, 1965 
on the Company demanding the sum of Euros 334,840 for services provided by the Plaintiff in respect of the 
Arbitration proceedings held in France between the Company and The Republic of Madagascar. On 13 October 
2009, the Company appointed a solicitor to file an injunction to restrain Proskauer Rose LLP from presenting 
a winding up petition against the Company. On 16 December 2009, the High Court dismissed the Company’s 
Injunction.

	O n 23 December 2009, the Company’s solicitor filed an appeal and Notice of Motion for an Interim Erinford 
Injunction and stay of execution of the judgement. The Court of Appeal fixed the notice of motion for hearing on 11 
January 2010. On 13 January 2010, the Company recorded a consent order before the Court of Appeal to release 
the deposit sum of US$ 79,275 to Proskauer Rose LLP pending hearing of the appeal. The matter was fixed for 
case management for the appeal on 28 April 2010 and was postponed by the Court to a date to be informed.

(xx)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Ismawadee & Co.
	K uala Lumpur Sessions Court Summons No. S10-52-19269-09

	T he Company has filed a claim at the Kuala Lumpur Sessions Court (Summons No. S10-52-19269-09) against 
Ismawadee & Co. (“Ismawadee”) being fees wrongfully paid to them. Ismawadee has filed the Defence and 
Counterclaim for the sum of RM1,455,800 being balance of professional fees incurred. The matter was fixed for 
further mention on 31 May 2010.

(xxi)	R egistrar of Companies Malaysia vs Dato’ Low Tuck Choy and 3 others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D-24-NCC-67-2010

	R egistrar of Companies (Chief Executive Officer of Companies Commission of Malaysia) (“ROC”) has filed 
injunction application on 15 March 2010 against Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (“D1”), Low Lai Yoong (“D2”), Low Chee & 
Sons Sdn Bhd (“D3”) and the Company to restrain D1-D3 from exercising their voting rights over the shares held 
by them. On 10 March 2010, the ROC obtained an ex-parte injunction order for the application. 

 
	D 1-D3 had filed an application to set aside the ex-parte order. On 16 March 2010, the Court varied the ex-parte order 

to limit the injunction to:

(i)	 1,288,500 shares of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“the Company”) held by Dato’ Low Tuck Choy 
and/or his nominees; and

(ii)	 870,500 shares of the Company held by Low Lai Yoong and/or her nominees

	T he ex-parte order against D3 is discharged. The matter is fixed for hearing on 7 July 2010 to allow for the exchange 
of affidavits, if any.
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xxii)	E xtreme System Sdn Bhd vs Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and 27 others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No: D-22NCC-146-2010

	O n 27 January 2010, Extreme System Sdn Bhd (“Plaintiff”) vide Kuala Lumpur High Court Suit No: D-22NCC-146-
2010 has filed an Injunction Application to restrain Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (2nd Defendant”) and 27 others from 
holding or proceeding with the EGM of the Company (“1st Defendant”) on 4 February 2010 for the removal of the 
existing directors of the Company. On 3 February 2010, the Court has granted the restraining order in favour of the 
Plaintiff.

 
	T he Plaintiff also filed a suit concerning an attempt by the 2nd Defendant while acting in concert with other 

shareholders who are collectively known as the “concert parties”, to take control of the Company by the acquisition 
of over 16,005,206 (15.69%) shares in the Company (“the swing vote”) and the calling of an EGM to remove 
the entire board of the Company save for the 2nd Defendant’s brother. The attempted take-over is in breach of 
the Malaysian Code on Take-Overs and Mergers 1998 (“Code”), the Securities Commission Act (“SCA”) and for 
improper purposes.

	T he Plaintiff claims that there were a breach of fiduciary duties by 2nd Defendants and that the Concert Parties 
breached their duties and obligations to comply with the provisions of the Code.

	T he Plaintiff filed a 2nd Injunction Application on 5 March 2010 to restrain the EGM of the  Company fixed for 17 
March 2010. The Learned Judge dismissed the Plaintiff’s Injunction Application to restraint the EGM fixed on 17 
March 2010.

	P laintiff filed the Erinford Injunction and the same has been dismissed with costs. Plaintiff’s filed an appeal for the 
Erinford Injunction and to stay the resolutions passed at the EGM on 17 March 2010. On 17 March 2010, the Court 
of Appeal unanimously dismissed the applications. 

 
	T he matter is fixed for case management on 28 April 2010 and further case management on 14 May 2010 to allow 

the parties to attend to the necessary in respect of all matters of this case.

(xxiii)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Dato’ Low Tuck Choy
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. D-22NCC-33-2010

	T he Company has filed Writs of Summons and Statement of Claim  on 8 January 2010 at Kuala Lumpur High Court 
(Suit No D-22NCC-33-2010) against Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (“Defendant”) for the illegal and improper conduct as the 
director of the Company up to 23 December 2008 constituted the breach of fiduciary duty, breach of trust, breach 
of duty of care and also had caused the Company’s projects to be redundant and as a result of that the Company 
has suffered losses. The Company claimed for specific damages of RM 235.6 Million and general damages to be 
assessed by Court. 

 
	D efendant has filed and served the defence and the matter has been fixed for next case management on 11 May 

2010.
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xxiv)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Low Chee & Sons Sdn Bhd
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. S-23-2-2010

	O n 7 January 2010 the Company filed suit at Kuala Lumpur High Court (Suit No. S-23-2-2010) against Low Chee 
& Sons Sdn Bhd (“Defendant”) for damages among others, publishing a notice entitled “Important Notice to 
All Shareholders of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad” (“Notice”) in the Sin Chew Daily newspaper on 25 
December 2009 and in The Star newspaper, Starbiz section on 28 December 2009. The notice amounts to a very 
serious libel on the Company and as a consequence, the Company’s reputation has been seriously damaged.  

 
	T he Defendant filed their Notice of Appearance on 29 January 2010. An extension of time until 4 April 2010 has 

been agreed between parties for the Defendants to file and served their defence.The Court has yet to fix a new 
date for this matter.

(xxv)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Dato’ Low Tuck Choy
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. S-23-3-2010

	O n 7 January 2010 the Company filed suit at Kuala Lumpur High Court (Suit No. S-23-3-2010) against Dato’ Low 
Tuck Choy (“Defendant”) for damages among others, publishing a notice entitled “Ho Hup major shareholder 
opposes sale Shareholders urged to decide ‘what is best’” (“Defamatory Statement”) in the Edge Financial Daily 
on  28 December 2009 which was defamatory against the Company. The Defamatory Statement amounts to a very 
serious libel on the Company and as a consequence, the Company’s reputation has been seriously damaged.  

 
	T he Defendant filed their Notice of Appearance on 29 January 2010. An extension of time until 4 April 2010 has 

been agreed between parties for the Defendants to file and served their defence. The Court has yet to fix a new 
date for the matter.

(xxvi)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd and 10 others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. 22NCC-792-2010

	T he Company has filed Suit No. 22NCC-792-2010 in the Kuala Lumpur High Court against Bukit Jalil Development 
Sdn Bhd (“BJD”), Lye Ek Seang, Lim Ching Choy, Lai Moo Chan, Long Md. Nor Amran Bin Ibrahim, Mohd Shahril 
Bin Tan Sri Hamzah, Foo Ton Hin, Low Teik Kien, Woo Thin Choy, Chong Kok Weng and Pioneer Haven Sdn Bhd 
(“PHSB”) in respect of the Joint Development Agreement (“JDA”) dated 16 March 2010 between BJD and PHSB 
to develop of the 60 acres freehold land held under individual title Geran 42277, Lot No. 36101, Mukim of Petaling, 
District of Kuala Lumpur, State of Wilayah Persekutuan into mixed commercial and residential development 
comprising inter alia but not limited to shopping complex, shop offices, office tower, service apartments and hotel 
subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the JDA.
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39.	 Material litigations (cont’d)

(xxvi)	H o Hup Construction Company Berhad vs Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd and 10 others
	K uala Lumpur High Court Suit No. 22NCC-792-2010 (cont’d)

	T he Company claimed in the Statement of Claim as per followings:

(i)	A  declaration that each of the JDA, the Power of Attorney and the Endorsement and Undertaking is void;

(ii)	A n Order for PHSB to account for all benefit of any form received or accrued by reason of or otherwise 
arising from JDA, the Power of Attorney and the Endorsement and Undertaking;

(iii)	A n Order that PHSB does pay or otherwise deliver to BJD all said benefits within 14 days of the Order;

(iv)	A n Order that Registrar of Land Titles be ordered to expunge and/or remove the caveat entered by PHSB 
on the land;

(v)	D amages against the second (2nd) to eleventh (11th) Defendants;

(vi)	I nterest at the rate of 8% per annum awarded by the Court from the date of the filing of the suit to the date 
of full and final settlement;

(vii)	C osts;

(viii)	A ny further or other relief the Court deems fit and appropriate.

	T he Company also filed the Summons in Chambers on 26 April 2010 for the application for Interlocutory Injunction 
against the Defendants to restrain them from giving effect to, or relying on, or otherwise acting pursuant to the 
JDA or in connection to the Endorsement or Undertaking, and against PHSB to restrain it from taking any action 
whatsoever under or otherwise pursuant to the Power of Attorney.

 
	T he hearing for the Summons in Chambers relating to the application for Injunction is fixed on 5 May 2010.

	T he Company’s contention is that both JDA and the Power of Attorney are void is due to the fact  that the JDA 
and/or the Power of Attorney constitute(s) a “disposal” within the meaning of section 132C of the Companies 
Act, 1965 (“the Act”) for which shareholders’ approval in general meeting of each of the Company and BJD are 
required. Failing such shareholders’ approval, the “disposal” is void by virtue of section 132C(3) of the Act.
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40.	Op erating lease arrangements

	T he Group has entered into cancellable operating lease agreements for the use of buildings. These leases have an average 
life of between 2 and 3 years with renewal or purchase option included in the contracts. All contracts include fixed rentals 
for an average of 2 to 3 years. There are no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases.

	
	T he future aggregate minimum lease payments under cancellable operating leases contracted for as at balance sheet 

date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Future minimum rental payments:

Not later than 1 year 118 393 108 322

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 302 203 197 101

420 596 305 423

41.	F inancial instruments

(a)	F inancial risk management objectives and policies

	T he Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that the Group creates value for its shareholders 
whilst managing its interest rate, foreign exchange, liquidity and credit risks. The Group operates within clearly 
defined guidelines and policy that is not to engage in speculative transactions.

(b)	I nterest rate risk

	T he Group finances its operations through operating cash flows and borrowings which are principally denominated 
in Malaysian Ringgit.

	T he Group’s primary interest rate risk relates to interest-bearing debt, as the Group had no substantial long-term 
interest-bearing assets as at 31 December 2009. The investment in financial assets are mainly short term in nature 
and they are not held for speculative purposes but have been mostly placed in fixed deposits.

(c)	F oreign exchange risk

	T he Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk derived from highly probable purchases and sales. The Group, 
however, is subject to foreign exchange rates fluctuation when translating the foreign entities’ financial statements 
as referred to in Note 3(o)(iii).

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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41.	F inancial instruments (cont’d)

(d)	L iquidity risk

	T he Group manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that 
all refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. The Group strives to maintain sufficient levels of cash through 
disposal of non-core assets of the Group and to maintain sufficient banking facilities of a reasonable level.

	T he Group and the Company have not made payments on certain obligations relating to bank borrowings and hire 
purchase payables as disclosed in Note 30 and Note 31.

(e)	C redit risk

	C redit risks, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, is controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits and 
monitoring procedures. Credit risks are minimised and monitored by associating with business partners with 
high creditworthiness. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis via Group management reporting 
procedures.

	T he Group’s exposure to credit risk is disclosed in Note 23.

(f)	F air values

	T he fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company approximate their carrying 
values as at the balance sheet date.

	I t is not practicable to estimate the fair value of contingent liabilities as referred to in Note 36 due to the uncertainties 
of timing, costs and eventual outcome.

	T he following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of the following classes of financial 
instruments:

(i)	C ash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables and short term borrowings

	T he carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of these financial 
instruments.

(ii)	B orrowings - term loans

	T he fair value of the term loans approximate the carrying amounts as the interest rates attached to these 
borrowings approximate the current interest rates for liabilities with similar risk profiles.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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42.	S egment information

The Group is organised into three major segments:

(i)	C onstruction - foundation and civil engineering, building contracting works and engineering, procurement, construction 
and commissioning of pipeline system.

(ii)	P roperty development - the development of residential and commercial properties.

(iii)	M anufacturing - manufacturing and distribution of ready-mixed concrete.

Other business segment represents hire of plant and machinery which is not of sufficient size to be reported separately.

	T he directors are of the opinion that all inter-segment transactions have been entered into in the normal course of 
business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from those obtainable in 
transactions with unrelated parties.

 Property 
Construction development Manufacturing Others Eliminations Consolidated 

2009 2008  2009  2008 2009  2008  2009 2008 2009  2008  2009  2008 
RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue and 
   expenses

Revenue
External sales  33,178 34,242 27,813  23,081 19,158  33,860  -  - - -  80,149 91,183

Inter-segment sales 4,411  1,496  -  -  933  1,379  -  -  (5,344)  (2,875)  -  - 

Total revenue 37,589 35,738 27,813  23,081 20,091 35,239  -  - 80,149  91,183 

Result
Segment results

Loss from operations  (34,522)  (58,242)  9,625  10,223  (2,171)  (1,499)  (603)  (237)  (27,671) (49,755)

Finance costs (5,695)  (6,515)

Share of results 
   of associates

 (21)  351 

Taxation  (1,309)  (244)

Loss after tax (34,696)  (56,163)

Minority interests 177  89

Net loss for the year (34,519)  (56,074)

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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42.	S egment information (cont’d)

 Property 
Construction development Manufacturing Others Eliminations Consolidated 

2009 2008  2009  2008 2009  2008  2009 2008 2009  2008  2009  2008 
RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Assets and 
   liabilities

Segment assets  93,414 112,932 149,336 164,880 1,051 11,836 627 35 - - 244,428 289,683

Investment in equity
   method of 
   associates - - - - - - - - - - 16 -

Consolidated total 
   assets 244,444 289,683

Segment liabilities  176,734 189,032 64,486 62,043 7,978 12,405 512 (1,905) 249,710 261,575

Deferred tax liabilities 35 42

Tax payable 9,285 8,027

Consolidated total
   liabilities 259,030 269,644

Other information

Depreciation and
   amortisation  4,416 4,675 55 102 527 473 11 220 5,009 5,470

Capital expenditure  569 9 40 - 82 322 - - 691 331

Non-cash expenses 
   other than
   depreciation and
   amortisation

 

14,628 21,293 - - 121 4,602 - - 14,749 25,895

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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43.	C omparatives

	T he following comparatives amounts as at 31 December 2008 has been reclassified to conform with current year’s 
presentation:

As previously As

stated Adjustments stated

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance sheet

Group

Trade receivables 81,566 (20,416) 61,150

Other receivables 13,078 20,416 33,494

Other payables 51,184 (1,102) 50,082

Tax payable 6,925 1,102 8,027

Company

Trade receivables 57,946 (20,416) 37,530

Other receivables 184,530 20,416 204,946

Other payables 55,184 (1,102) 54,082

Tax payable 4,996 1,102 6,098

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirty-Sixth Annual General Meeting of 
the Company will be held at Bukit Jalil Golf and Country Resort, Langkawi Room, 
Jalan 3/155B, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 28 June 2010 at 9.30 
am for the following purposes:-

AGENDA

1.	T o receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 together 
with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2.	T o re-elect the following Directors who retire by rotation in accordance with Article 90 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election: -

(i) 	 Low Teik Kien
(ii) 	Y usob Bin Md Tasir

3.	T o re-elect the following Directors who retire in accordance with Article 96 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election: -

(i) 	D ato’ Ramli Bin Yusuff

4.	T o approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

5.	T o appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

	N otice of Nomination pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act, 1965, a copy of which is 
annexed hereto and marked  “Annexure A” have been received by the Company for the nomination 
of Messrs. UHY Diong, for appointment as Auditors and of the intention to propose the following 
ordinary resolution:- 

	 “That subject to their consent to act, Messrs. UHY Diong be appointed as Auditors of the Company 
for the financial year ending 31 December 2010 in place of Messrs. Ernst & Young, the retiring 
Auditors, and that their remuneration to be fixed by the Directors.” 

(Resolution 1)
 (Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (cont’d)

6.	A s Special Business:
 
	  To consider and, if thought fit, with or without any modifications, to pass the following resolution 

which will be proposed as ordinary resolution:- 

	OR DINARY RESOLUTION
	 - AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 

1965

	  “THAT subject to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and approvals of the relevant 
governmental/regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue and allot 
shares in the Company, at any time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that the aggregate 
number of shares issued pursuant to this Resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the 
issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being; AND THAT the Directors be and 
are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so 
issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad; AND THAT such authority shall commence immediately 
upon the passing of this resolution and continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.”

7.	   To transact any other ordinary business for which due notice has been given.

By Order of the Board

Chua Siew Chuan (MAICSA 0777689)
Chin Mun Yee (MAICSA 7019243)
Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur
4 June 2010

(Resolution 6)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (cont’d)

Explanatory Notes to Special Business:

Authority Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

The proposed adoption of the Ordinary Resolution is for the purpose of granting a renewed general mandate (“General 
Mandate”) and empowering the Directors of the Company, pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, to issue 
and allot new shares in the Company from time to time provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to the 
General Mandate does not exceed 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being. The General 
Mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for allotment of shares for any possible fund raising activities for 
the purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or acquisition(s).

As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the mandate granted to the Directors at 
the Thirty-Fifth Annual General Meeting held on 25 June 2009 and which will lapse at the conclusion of the Thirty-Sixth Annual 
General Meeting.

Notes:

1. 	A  member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy/proxies to attend and vote in his stead. 
A proxy need not be a member of the Company. However, in accordance with Section 129(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 
1965, a member shall not be entitled to appoint a person who is not a member of the Company as his proxy unless that 
person is a qualified legal practitioner, an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Companies Commission 
of Malaysia in a particular case.

2. 	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) 
Act 1991, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds which is credited with ordinary 
shares of the Company.

3. 	T he instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorised.

4. 	 Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions 
of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

5. 	T he instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at No. 18, Jalan 17/155C, 
Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting or at 
any adjournment thereof.
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Annexure A

Chow Seck Kai
37, Lorong Jintan 3
Taman Supreme
56100 Kuala Lumpur
Wilayah Persekutuan

31 May 2010

The Board of Directors
Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
No. 18, Jalan 17/155C
Bandar Bukit Jalil
57000 Kuala Lumpur

Dear Sirs,

NOTICE OF NOMINATION OF AUDITORS

Pursuant to Section 172 (11) of the Companies Act, 1965, I, being a shareholder of the Company hereby give notice of my 
intention to nominate Messrs. UHY Diong for appointment as Auditors of the Company and to propose the following as an 
ordinary resolution to be tabled at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting:

“That subject to their consent to act, Messrs. UHY Diong be appointed as Auditors of the Company for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2010 in place of Messrs. Ernst & Young, the retiring Auditors, and that their remuneration to be fixed by 
the Directors.”

Yours truly,

CHOW SECK KAI
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Form of ProxyHO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD (14034-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

*I/We, (full name in capital letters)  

of (full address)  being a 

*member/members of HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD (“the Company”), hereby appoint (full name in capital 

letters)  of (full address) 

 

or *failing him/her, (full name in capital letters)  of (full address) 

 or or *failing him/her, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as 
*my/our proxy to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Thirty-Sixth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
at Bukit Jalil Golf and Country Resort, Langkawi Room, Jalan 3/155B, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 28 June 2010 
at 9.30 am and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below how you wish your votes to be cast. If no specific direction as to 
voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain at his/her discretion. 

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December, 2009 together with the 
Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

No. Resolutions For Against
2 (i) To re-elect Low Teik Kien who retires in accordance with Article 90 of the Company’s 

Articles of Association.                                                                               (Resolution 1)

2 (ii) To re-elect Yusob Bin Md Tasir who retires in accordance with Article 90 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.                                                                               (Resolution 2)

3 (i) To re-elect Dato’ Ramli Bin Yusuff, who retires in accordance with Article 96 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association.                                                            (Resolution 3)

4 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 31 December 
2009.                                                                                                           (Resolution 4)

5 To appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.                                                             	
(Resolution 5)

As Special Business :
6. Ordinary Resolution

- Authority to Issue Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
(Resolution 6)

* strike out whichever not applicable

Signed this  day of  , 2010

									          
  							                 		         Signature of Member/Common Seal

Notes:

1. 	A  member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy/proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of 
the Company. However, in accordance with Section 129(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965, a member shall not be entitled to appoint a person who is not a 
member of the Company as his proxy unless that person is a qualified legal practitioner, an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Companies 
Commission of Malaysia in a particular case.

2. 	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at least 
one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds which is credited with ordinary shares of the Company.

3. 	T he instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a 
corporation, either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

 
4. 	 Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by 

each proxy.

5. 	T he instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at No. 18, Jalan 17/155C, Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala 
Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.
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